## The Holy Trinity

As dictated to **Franz Schumi**Received 12-22 February 1901

Christian Theosophical Scriptures **Nr 37** 

English version edited

December 2025

#### **Table of Contents**

The Acts of the Apostles Chapter 2	4
A Word of Love from the Father	5
Martin Luther and the Post-Apostolic Prophecies	
Dear Brother and Sister in the Lord!	
The Pure Christian-Theosophical Teaching	10
PART I ~ Father God	
PART II ~ Jesus, son of David, therefore 'Son of Man'	
PART III ~ Jesus as Son of God, is God's Wisdom	
PART IV ~ Christ is the Holy Spirit	27
PART V ~ Jesus, the Prince of Peace	
PART VI ~ The Holy Trinity	
The Inner Word of the Contemporary Divine Mediums	
The prophecy about the return of Christ and its spiritual correspondence	
My Dear Children!	
Jesus as Prayer	
Words of the Heavenly Father to His children	

#### The Pentecost baptism\* of the Holy Spirit

\*The term "Pentecost" is the corruption of the Greek word pentekostes, which means the 50 days elapsed from the resurrection.

#### **Contents**

- A word of love from the Father Concerning this book edition
- Martin Luther and the Post-Apostolic Prophecies
- Enlightenment of the editor to his dear brothers and sisters in the Lord
- Pure Christian-theosophical doctrine

#### The Holy Trinity

- The Father God in His Spiritual Correspondence
- · Jesus, David's son, therefore Son of Man
- Jesus as Son of God is God's wisdom
- The Father is bigger than Me
- Christ is the Holy Spirit
- Gifts of Grace and Power of the Holy Spirit in Rebirth
- Jesus the Prince of Peace
- The Holy Trinity in God
- The Holy Trinity in Man

#### **Appendix**

- The Inner Word of the Present Media of God
- The prophecy about the Second Coming of Christ and its spiritual correspondence
- Enlightenment of the Father about the Prayer Book and about the prophetically announced
- World Leader Jesus as Prayer and the Prayer Book
- Announcement of the World Judgement of the Second Coming of Christ in the words of the Father to His children

### The Acts of the Apostles Chapter 2

Dictation on August 20, 1901

This is the best place where I find on pp. 36-39 the gifts of grace and power of the Holy Spirit described in the rebirth, that I tell you the scene of the baptism of fire of the Holy Spirit as it took place at that time.

It was on May 17 according to your account, at 9 o'clock in the morning, when My dear Apostles, disciples and women were sunk in quite fervent prayers, and all of them unanimously or of one mind had sunk into Me, that I allowed the baptism of the Holy Spirit, which is otherwise called the rebirth of the Spirit, to take place, namely in such a way that the peoples who were in Jerusalem at that time in various business matters were made aware of it and the Pharisees were made more silent.

Suddenly, high above the cloud regions, a great rustling and roaring sound was heard, as if a storm wind were blowing through the country, which quickly descended upon the the city of Jerusalem and moved towards the inn Nazareth, which in no time seemed to be shrouded in a storm wind, but which, having arrived there, immediately fell silent.

While the people who flocked together after this event looked outside in amazement and asked what had happened, the place where 74 of My loved ones were lying on their knees, sunken in prayer, was filled with a great light, in which fiery tongues as symbols of My Love Teaching floated divided above the heads of every one who at that moment, stood in a supernaturally blissful light, was through and through enlightened and enveloped with a heavenly fragrance which cannot be compared to the earthly smell of flowers. This lasted about five minutes, and all the born-again were filled with great love, wisdom, power of faith, fullness of joy and life-zeal, to proclaim the gospel to the peoples. And so everyone said with one voice, "Let's go out! Let happen what may, let us proclaim the truth to the people, of Who Iesus of Nazareth whom they crucified, was". And so all rushed out, the gate of the inn opened and cheering, My loved ones entered among the multitude of the people, which filled all the streets around the inn and waited for the news of what had happened. So My apostles, disciples and women, full of the Holy Spirit, appeared and began to describe the truth of what had happened with lively words and speaking in all tongues, as it is described in the second chapter of the Acts of the Apostles from the fourth verse on and is further reported of there.

### A Word of Love from the Father

Dictation of April 24, 1901

My dear children, you have here a book intended for the conversion of Roman Catholics, but especially Protestants, from their Bible-letter-faith and for the opening of the knowledge of the truth of the Divine names. Spread this book out of love for Me and your neighbor, through word and religious writings - so that the world may be led to unity in faith and knowledge that in the Christian-Theosophical books, it is I Myself who teaches you through these books according to the word text of the evangelist John 6:45. I tell you, My dear children, I have given you books which, once printed, will be the easiest way to teach others out of love for Me and to lead them to Christian Theosophy; for this is the religion of the millennial kingdom of God on earth.

Furthermore, in My love and grace, I even gave you great hints and teachings in the already published "Christian Theosophical Prayer Book". Seek with all love and with all seriousness to spread it, both because of its teachings and its prayers, since no-one advances without praying - note this well - and also because of My great grace of spiritualization (Prayer Book). Read yourself more often what is commanded in it, and do not believe that you no longer need My words. If you believe and mean such things then you are on a great wrong track because you still need them very much.

This will be followed by the important work yet to be published: *"The Christian Theosophy"*, which will appear in print in keeping with the times.

This book is intended for each and everyone, for in it My teaching is presented in the gentle words of your Father, but in the highly spiritual sense of Christ. With this, you can give public lectures and you can give the book to each individual, because in this book My pure spiritual teaching is clearly presented in all its majesty, as well as the proofs that it is of Divine, and not human origin.

Also through My scribe I have given "The whole guidance of the Apostle of the Reformation, Dr. Martin Luther in the Hereafter" from his passing over to his completion as a Great one and Prince among the Great ones and Princes of My New Jerusalem, which will also appear in print through My Love, which I will awaken in you. Before your hand take these My Words which I have given you in the "Holy Trinity" and use them; and if you feel compelled to do so in yourselves through My Love to promote the publication of "Christian Theosophy" and "Dr. Martin Luther" who can do it through monetary support; so on the other hand contribute to the printing costs by deciding for yourselves whether you wish to be transferred into the possession of these words of Mine in the works mentioned.

The work "Dr. Martin Luther", which contains important doctrine and convincing teachings, that are meant to make clear to you how I want you to understand them, serves to perfect you in love and truth.

For I tell you, as long as you do not all have one and the same faith, one and the same view of My teaching, you will neither see heaven nor Me, because in heaven there is no need for quarreling parties or know-it-alls, but only loving, humble children of one heart and one mind, because I dwell only among such. –

The name "Christian Theosophy" will in the future be authoritative for My dictations and books, because all other theosophies and theosophical books will disappear from the world, for where I, "the King of Truth", will rule, all philosophical theosophies and interpretations will have to disappear, as well as everything that will not bear the stamp of truth. Amen, I say, Jesus, your God and spiritual King.

Here you now again have My holy words and so act according to them; consider well that the acting, i.e. your deeds prove in how far your love for Me has progressed. May My Fatherly blessing be with you and all good children who strive to fulfill My love. Amen

# Martin Luther and the Post-Apostolic Prophecies

People often believe their fellow human beings more than their God and Father, which is proved to you by the Christian-Theosophical books which I had written by dictating to Lorber, Mayerhofer and others. It is now up to you to decide: Do you want to believe your Father Jesus or your priests and leaders? ... In any case, your future in the spirit realm will then be the same as that of your fellow believers and followers of Dr. Luther, who hoped to see Jesus Christ in the hereafter in response to his promises, and who were then very disappointed when they had to see that Luther himself was in uncertainty when he came to them, what that might be, that they neither saw Jesus nor attained Heaven, despite their firm faith and enduring persecutions.

But if this is a perfect truth, do not expect any different fate, regardless of whether you are Protestant, Roman Catholic, Orthodox or Anglican, but that you may all open up your false ideas of the true doctrine of Christ and go into the school of your Father Jesus, so that you may learn to grasp Holy Scripture - not according to the letters which bring death, but according to the spirit, which gives life.

This little preliminary remark should suffice, because reading through the "Holy Trinity" will open your eyes and ears to what is true, so that you will then faithfully contemplate and accept the words of your true Shepherd Jesus. The return of Christ cannot take place before you accept My pure teaching and live and act according to it. - My blessing to all who are of a good, childlike believing heart. Amen.

### Dear Brother and Sister in the Lord!

The dear Father gave this book through me, and He wants to open your eyes with it, that you may see clearly what your religious views are; and that, on the basis of this insight, according to John 6:45, from now on you should be taught by God directly through His books. Otherwise Father Jesus cannot come to us, despite the time of the promised return of Christ, which is at the door, but it cannot happen, because our hearts are not pure and the Divine teachings of the Holy Scriptures are falsified by misunderstandings.

It is therefore the task of each one of you to promote the cause of the Father. Therefore, with all your zeal, spread "The Holy Trinity" and collect subscribers to it, spread it by having it read and by mentioning and discussing it in religious magazines and books. Send me the addresses of associations (also that of Indiantheosophical), book societies, magazines and individuals whom you know are eagerly engaged or active in the Christian cause; send me the addresses of all Christian or New Theosophists known to you, without regard to their beliefs; the decision as to whether they are purchasers and propagators of the Father's cause will become apparent. – This also applies to spiritualists and their associations.

For if each one will not do his own part to promote the true doctrine of the Father, the Father will make us wait quietly for his return for a long time to come! – We must all ourselves serve the Father and promote His return by spreading a pure and unified faith as He wants it to be, as this book and the *Prayer Book* will show you, and as the next books will show you.

- For although we already have several Christian Theosophical books, especially the "Great Gospel of Jesus Christ", of which the New Testament is only a small excerpt, these books which I have received from the Father, are intended especially for the conversion of various churches and sects to Christian Theosophy, since they are scientific books of evidence and graces
- (cf. in the *Prayer Book*) and therefore these books of the Father are harbingers and forerunners of His Second Coming. So take them in with goodwill and love, so that after these have set up quarters in your hearts, the Father Himself can come.
- Do what I advise you, for I know what the Father wants from all of us, and therefore I write His Holy Will quite clearly to you. The later published books: *Christian Theosophy* and *Dr. M.*

Luther will each cost about 2 Marks 55 Pf or Austrian 3 Crowns.

The return of Christ will not happen in a material way, but it will consist in the spreading of the Divine, purely spiritual or "Theosophical" doctrine, as this book and the Prayer Book will show you and the books still to be published will show you, and as Father's 'Bietigheim books' will show you.

The kingdom of God of love on earth will come nowhere else than in your hearts and only then the material earth will be transformed into a highly spiritual paradise in construction and growth. - But all human beings must cooperate in the great spiritual and Divine works of the Father, so that all humanity may have a faith that works through love for God and neighbor.

Then, when people will live according to Father's pure spiritual teaching of love, Father will also come visibly, but not materially, because He is a spirit

- but spiritually, by opening the spiritual eyes, ears and feelings of his children and by blessing them with the power from above - like once the apostles. This will then open the earthly paradise before us.

# The Pure Christian-Theosophical Teaching

Those who reflect on pure Divine teaching want to buy the books dictated by the Father Jesus Himself and written down by His mediums, which are available from the Christian (new) Theosophical Publishing House C. F. Landbeck in Bietigheim a. d. Enz in Württemberg. Price lists on request free of charge from there.

I also recommend the magazine "Einst und Jetzt" [Once and Now] in Berlin as an admonition from Father to His children.

The third point of reference are the Conversion Works and Father's Love-Gifts, which from now on will be published by Franz Schumi in Graz, Austria, at Leitnergasse 16.

Book orders and remittances should be sent to Franz Schumi in Graz, Leitnergasse 16 - Cecil Bägel in Hamburg, St. Georg, Lindenstr. 15 - 17.

For Switzerland in Commission at H. Zollinger, Buchbinderei und Buchhandlung in Winterthur, Marktgasse 5.

Franz Schumi

### PART I ~ Father God

People have forgotten God and have built idol temples (in the original Vulgate, the word is "delubar", meaning "idol temple") called churches (the Greek-Latin word "ecclesia" doesn't refer to a built church, but rather the gathered community of adherents to a religion). Thus the prophet Hosea reports in chapter 8, verse 14 about the respective decay of mankind, which I compared to the fickle Jewish people and therefore called Israel.

This name did not fit the Jews, because I never forgot that they built idolatrous temples, but the idolatry was only temporarily torn down, which I again and again quickly exterminated. (Often mentioned in the Old Testament.)

There may be moments in Jewish history when the people forgot about Me, cast golden calves or had them made, but a temple was never built. King Jeroboam indeed built a house for the sacrificing priests, but not for the altar. And the temple of Jerusalem was never a temple for idols. It is clear from this that what I had let Hosea write was minted on your churches, which are filled with altars, statues and pictures - called "idol temples" by Hosea. Because only these could be meant, and I tell you: Truly! These I have described in advance as temples of idols! -

The old editions of the Bible printed "temples of idols and churches", but the newest ones, both Roman and Protestant, now have "palaces" here. So the corruption of My Holy Word has been happening all the time. Thousands of 'corrections' have been made to the Scriptures so far to gradually push them down to a man-made work; and the consequences was: The falling away of the Church!

Poor people! How can you rely on your Bible and your leaders while it so deceive you? Your priests have become lying priests to you, they are often servants of Mammon but very rarely, servants of God. - Therefore, do not be surprised if they have no light and explain the Scriptures on the basis of the spirit-killing letter! - and resist to acknowledge a spiritual enlightenment because thereby their darkness would be revealed in the spiritual and the building of their lies and deceit would collapse.

If men had kept the word of God pure and explained it spiritually, then such a spiritual decay be impossible. But, as the priests explain My commandments wrongly and do not live and act according to them themselves, it is no wonder that everything is going downhill in sin and forgetfulness of God.

When men will wake up and see the abyss into which they have spiritually plunged, then a terrible knowledge will come to light. They will avoid their leaders as the sheep avoid the wolves; for such I meant when I said, "They will creep into the flock in sheepskin, and then they will tear apart and destroy the unsuspecting sheep without hindrance. (Math. 7:15 - Acts. 20:29)

Nothing else remains for Me but to hand you a New Bible, which is explained purely and spiritually, so that the truth is separated from the previous lie. Because the time has now dawned of which the prophets spoke that My children are taught by Myself. (Isa 54:13; Jer 31:34; John 6:45)

And indeed, it is already happening; for if you humbly examine the sublimity of My words and enlightenments, you will recognize the truth that lies within them. But if such truth threatens to dupe you, because people today enjoy a spiritually dark education and are therefore full of such spirits of the deceased who suggest their dark views to them, then put the book aside and come in best faith to your Father Jesus and fervently ask Me for the spiritual light! – And you will be given light on the matter. For to the humble in the spirit I am a loving Father; I let the wise men and critics of the world go their own way.

When men one day will see how they have been betrayed regarding their salvation by their spiritual leaders, only then will they be inclined to repentance. But as long as they stubbornly insist on their letters and on their wisdom without love, no salvation can be achieved with them because they are spiritually too dark and therefore do not know and cannot grasp the voice of their chief shepherd Jesus.

Because men at presently have fallen into such great darkness in the spiritual, I have again awakened My writing prophets all over, as once with the Israelites when they began following the wrong ways too strongly.

Then, darkness reigned through the stupidity of the people; today, through the dark, God-denying wisdom. All that wisdom which does not act according to My commandments is dark, because it is anti-Christian; for all that violates My Christ-teaching, is anti-Christian. Now look at your lives and actions and compare it with My commandments, then you will recognize the Antichrists where they are and what they are called!

What use are your prayers, chants and ceremonies to Me if they come from a heart polluted by all kinds of sins? You feign piety when you are in need, but you do not remember that I am most holy and that sin is banished from before My Face forever. Is not the criminal among you punished? And you believe that I forgive everything if you only come somewhat sweet-tempered to prayer! Your sins will never be forgiven by Me if you do not refrain from them in the future out of love for Me and your neighbor. Neither repentance nor confession is decisive for Me, but only the continuing penance with the firm intention to avoid sins and

no longer commit them. You yourselves are your own judges; for I judge no one (John 8:15) and the less you live according to My commandments, the more you distance yourselves from Me and the more you go into the judgment of darkness into hell - because your sins connect you with the spirits and society of hell. But the more you pay attention to fulfill My commandments, the higher you rise in the spiritual realm, and you come into contact with spirits and societies which are equal to your inner being, and if your will is sincere, higher and higher spirits come into your environment and this has a spiritually invigorating and encouraging effect on you, because your soul sees the spirits and rejoices with them, and your brain notices this joy but it does not know why you are so enthusiastic about the Divine, because the brain does not get the impressions of the soul with full consciousness but only as a hunch, otherwise you would know everything that goes on in the kingdom of spirits. When awake, the carnal brain is only receptive to the impressions of the outer sphere of life; but at night or during sleep, it is also receptive to what the soul does in the spirit realm, of which truthful dreams and clairvoyance and somnambulism give unambiguous proof even to the skeptic and the God-denier.

This is how My reign among you proceeds, and it is My only desire that you, as My children, listen to the voice of your God and Father Jesus, so that My words may bear the fruits of eternal life in you. Otherwise you can never come to Me because soot and snow have two unequal colors. - If you accept that, as gross sinners, you represent "soot," then it will also become clear to you what snow is. - Therefore purify yourselves and sanctify your thoughts, desires, words and deeds so that they carry only spiritual things in themselves, then the way to Me will be initiated, otherwise never! Without struggle there is no victory, but without victory, there is no reward to hope for.

So, My children, I have enlightened you about some things that must be done to come to Me. The remaining (new-) Theosophical books, which have been considered heretical by you so far, give you further explanations because they spread the truth about everything. Read them all and judge at the end! I will not force anyone to believe, but I will not pull anyone back if he, fully aware of his lot, wants to fall into the abyss! Because everyone is the blacksmith of his happiness when he knows the means to become happy, and these are given and enlightened on all sides in My dictates. He who does not know and understand the voice of his God and Father, has sunk deeply into human wisdom and matter, while I am the opposite: Love and Spirit. (1 John 4:8,16; John 4:24)

Those who imagine themselves to be My called servants, have never cared about knowing My Person, but in their Mammon-service, they have brought even more darkness into the incomprehensible, because the Bible carries spiritual words - that is why I Myself will do what such children ask Me to do, to have love for Me and therefore also for you as My children.

In the Old Testament we knew the God of Abraham, Isaac and Jacob, they knew that He is a Spirit and true and just (1 Kings 18:36; Ps 111:7; Daniel 4:37)

My name was Jehovah Zebaoth, which means "Father" "Lord of hosts".

The term "Jehovah" is translated as "Lord of the Righteous", "The Eternal", "Unchangeable", but these translations are not original, therefore incorrect. In Hebrew JEOUA means "Father" i.e. 'Love' and 'Creator' or 'Witness', and as Love, I am also marked in the New Testament. (1 John 4:7,8,16)

Love is the basic principle in God and this is the Father as the Creator of the world; for love is always the Father, the impulse and the witness, because a fully free being will never do anything without it being driven by love. But God as the most free being only does what is His love, desire and joy, hence the name 'Jehovah' or 'Father', because the Father\* is precisely the begetting Love.

\* 'Father' comes from the primordial Aryan 'pa-tar', 'pa' is the original root of 'fa' and 'are' (fare - Italian), fair french, also contained in 'fa-ber' "Mach-er", "Schmied" Latin, cf. south german "Mehl-ber" the means "Mehl-mann"; 'pa' means making, producing, creating, doing, fabricating; - tar is suffix of substantiation, together patar, out of which Latin pater, out of which Old German fater, now became father, which for God means "creator", for humans like the Latin mas (ma-as "Mach-er") - the "producer". The letter f is sharpened from the primordial Aryan b, p, in bh, ph and in many expressions also originated as v.

As Love, I am your Father and dwelling in your heart, and as such I announce Myself through conscience when this reproaches or advises for good. Paul wrote to the Corinthians (1 Cor 3:16,17 - 6:19; II:6,16) and to the Romans (Romans 8:11) and explained to them that the "Spirit of God" lives in man as the Living Temple of God, that this Spirit is the "Holy Spirit"; that this Spirit is the living God and the one who raised the body of Jesus from death. This enlightenment shall be sufficient for you to reject the false assumption that the human spirit is different from the Spirit of God, for otherwise I, your God JESUS, and My apostle Paul would be two liars. (Gal 1:11,12) Look, also this is a great proof that your wisdom has made you dark, that you even misinterpret a materially expressed teaching! It clearly says: God has blown His breath into Adam and thereby enlivened him (1 Moses 2:7) - but if it is fully true, how could I have blown another breath, a breath of life, or spirit of life than My own Spirit of God and a Spirit of Satan, i.e. a Spirit of God of love and a Spirit of Satan of hatred.

My spirit of love is life in the whole visible and invisible creation, and this spirit is often given for the strengthening of the spirit in man; but this does not mean that

the spirit of man is not pure spirit of God, but only that the spirit directly from Me is more active in love than the much plagued spirit of sinful man. (Rom 8:15,16)

Imagine therefore the Father not as a person, but as a spirit of love, as an air burning with love, otherwise you will never grasp God correctly; for if God were not an ether air, He could not possibly penetrate everything and be represented everywhere! Hence His seeing all things and knowing all things in the whole world.

Not easily will there be a more confused conception of the term God-Father than the priesthood has raised, but let it be; - for now My own work begins to enlighten how My children are to understand the teaching of the love of God.

The term 'father' has the highest meaning for men; for if your father is God, you are called to become gods and heirs of His kingdoms, but only when you fulfill the will of your Father.

It is all up to you - and not up to Me - whether you want to be overjoyed and like gods or not; for I do not force anyone to become something they do not want to be. Where My Spirit reigns, there is freedom (2 Cor 3:17), and no-one can complain that I am putting something in his way; but no-one should complain when all sorts of

trouble gets in his way! For that depends on the life, whether one lives in God or without God.

The word "Father" should be an incentive for you to work so that you "lost sons" would come home to the Father, Who always awaits you to welcome you lovingly into His heavenly Father's house. Therefore strive to fulfill the Father's will and I tell you, your effort will be Divinely paid.

'Father' shall be your watchword! For Father is love in God, and only when you pronounce this word as the name of your God from loving hearts, is His name sanctified through you and attracted in love to you. Therefore seek to bear this name in your mouths and not just the name God, for God is most holy, and therefore men are an abomination to Him as sinners and criminals; but as Father He is love, and only this has compassion and mercy for you.

Bring therefore much love to the Father. Then will all your sins be forgiven, and may there be as much of them as of the grass of the earth, or of the sand of the sea. (Pred 10:12; 1 Peter 4:8; NtS 10c,24. -)

The evangelist John (7:38,39) writes: Whoever believes in Me (Jesus), from his innermost being, streams of living water will pour out. That is to say: He who believes in Me, will follow My teaching, and thereby streams of love will be

poured out through activity in works of love, which he will pour over the poor and the sick.

No-one can say that he loves God if he hates his neighbor! For how can he say that he loves God when he hates, disparages and abandons his neighbor, in whom the living God lives - in case of need, instead of lovingly jumping with him and helping him according to power (1 John 4:7,8,16,20,21) and possibility!

Love is the greatest commandment in the law of Moses, and no-one comes to the Father except through love, because love only demands love again, because love is life (Matt 22:37-40; John 14:6).

Therefore, My Paul said that love is the highest thing (1 Cor 13). For what is the use of your faith in Me that I am Christ if your works do not correspond to love? Also Satan and his devils believe in Me, but their works are not out of love, therefore against Me. What use is it to Me if you love those who are dear to your hearts, but let the poor and needy suffer hunger and misery? Truly I say to you, your faith and your love are null and void with Me as long as the works of charity to strangers do not adorn you! Without works of charity, you belong among the goats of My spiritual judgement (vgl. Matth. 26:32) and hell will be your dwelling place.

Therefore, My Paul said that love is the highest thing (1 Cor. 13). For what use is your belief that I am Christ to Me if your works do not correspond to love? Satan and his devils also believe in Me, but their works are not out of love, and therefore against Me. What good is it to Me if you love those who are dear to your hearts, but allow the poor and needy to suffer hunger and misery? Truly, I say to you: your faith and your love are null and void with Me as long as the works of charity toward strangers do not adorn you! Without works of charity, you belong among the goats of My spiritual judgment (*compare to Matthew 25:32*) and hell will be your dwelling place.

Where there is no selfless love for the poor neighbor, where the poor, needy and sick are left unconsidered to their fate, there I, your Father Jesus, am not - and when you do not pave your way to Me, the Father, through My love for the neighbor, then you do not come to the Father because I am the way to him through love. (John 14:6; 1 John 4:8,16)

You now know that the term 'Father' means love in God, therefore you will now understand the Bible words where it says: "I and the Father are one (John 10:30), because that means so much as: I and the Father are equal in love. Furthermore it says: I am in the Father and the Father is in Me. (John 10:37,38) This text wants to say that I was in love and mercy and therefore did the works of charity;

therefore the Divine love (1 John 4:8,16) was in Me and My love in the love of the Father was one.

Furthermore I said: "But the Father, who dwells in Me, does the same works. (John 14:10) So it was the love of God in Me that did the works of charity, but My love was at the same time the love of the Father. (John 14:19-21) We were always one. Therefore I said: The Spirit of Truth will transfigure Me, for He will take out of Mine (i.e. out of My love, wisdom and power) and proclaim it to you. (John 16:14) For all that the Father has (i.e. the Divine Love) is Mine (of the Divine wisdom (1 Cor 1:24) Therefore I said, He will take it from what is Mine and proclaim it to you. (John 16:15; 17:10)

I was in everything one with My Father. Therefore the Spirit of the Father in Me became the Ruler of My individuality and He directed and guided My whole being. For I subordinated My wisdom to His love and thereby lost My separate quality in God.

So also you have to crucify your wisdom and subordinate it to love, then you become one with God the Father, who am I, Jesus, as I as man through love became one with the Father and through this, became God the Father Myself. Now I could say: he who sees Me sees him who sent Me because My own love sent Me, and in God there is only one love, because where love moves, there is the Father. And so it happened at the Last Supper that I said: "If you have come to know Me, you have also come to know My Father; for he who sees Me sees the Father. (John 14:7-9)

The Spirit of God is the Father, because the Father is the spiritual expression for love and love is the whole primordial Being in God, therefore: he who has love, is infinitely rich, he can even afford heaven.

## PART II ~ Jesus, son of David, therefore 'Son of Man'

Man has an inherent hope for a better afterlife and he therefore strives to lead his life in such a way that he can have a justified hope to reach it happily.

People have never had so little sense for the spiritual as they do today. What they see as the spiritual in them is not the spiritual as it should be, but it is worldly, dogmatic, selfish - because it is based on their own weakness.

How can I not be sad when I see humanity walking the path to the abyss? Everyone believes that his views are the right ones. But most people lack the patience to be taught, to think a little, to check out the truth. And yet one should examine the truth, whether its foundation is in love for God and neighbor; for not in wisdom lies the truth, but in love, and if wisdom are works of love.

According to these signs, everyone can judge whether they are of the Spirit of Truth and whether they act according to the will of God. For by the fruits the tree can be recognized. (Matt 12:33) And so also men are known by their fruits, whether their works come from unselfish love or selfish wisdom. (Matt 7:16.)

When men fulfill the regulations which My love-teaching prescribes to them, then My love is active in them and they mature in the spiritual and bring good fruits for eternal life.

Thus My rule becomes an intimate one with you; for you feel a reassuring joy in the fulfilment of your duties, in the work of neighborly love, for My sake. Because only the intimate relationship between Father and child will awaken love, joy and peace in you, and this is worth more than anything else.

I have told the sleeping disciples in the garden of Gethsemane, "Watch and pray"; and so I also say to you because the spirit, which is I Myself within you, is certainly always willing, but your soul is lazy, which rules the flesh and likes to pursue only its desires because it is taken from matter. And this must always be encouraged and prompted to the good.

Many people live day in and day out without thinking that they have a soul, they even deny their own soul and its survival after death and think that everything is over with the death of the flesh-body. Such thoughtless materialists will have a terrible awakening in the afterlife. They will awaken to the fact that it would be better if they had never lived; for pain and sorrow will envelop them in darkness and no man will give them any information, because they ridiculed the good

teachings in the world and only cared for their bodies, but left the soul in want of all and every spiritual nourishment.

They have no idea what will happen to such desolate people there. The naked truth will surprise them all the more terribly when they arrive where no deception is possible anymore. They will then be howling for the missed paths in life and gnash their teeth with anger about their own stupidity, throwing away the good and following the evil. The worm of repentance will not end because man feels too unhappy in the darkness. Therefore, such unfortunates often degenerate into rage and glow red in the inner fire of anger and wild excitement against the seemingly unconquerable and never-ending sad fate. Wild flames roar through the interior of their hearts due to their excitement against the ruthless reign of repentance, darkness, and the sinister grip of the humans who have fallen into their states of hell.

No-one can imagine what a terrible existence such unfortunate beings go through and how they curse and go wild against Me and themselves; and yet I have given them all freedom to acquire out of My fountain of Divine love-teaching as much as they liked. But instead of gratitude or even knowledge, I have only received derision, mockery and contempt from them. Now they have come to Me with all their devilishness and wickedness, and I shall give them honey? No, I am not going to hurt them.

But exactly because they lived and died without Me, and I alone am all sweetness and bliss of spiritual life, but they threw Me away with derision and mockery of their intellectual wisdom, they are therefore the only judges and transgressors of their sad fate in the eclipse of hell, where all help, all light, all power is lacking to work themselves out and to move into better regions.

Such a condition is terribly boring, especially because of the church's rooted false doctrine, that it lasts forever and no change is possible. Therefore, children! Read My clarifications with seriousness and attention so that the same fate does not reach you!

It won't last forever, for I have only created eternal places of damnation, but I haven't set my children into the world to be eternally damned. (See *Prayer Book*) But until they have worked themselves out to the point where they recognize the lie they are in and learn the means to improve their pitiful state, it seems to them as if eternities are passing them by. And this hopeless and seemingly endless state is for them the purest hell of torment in darkness and flames of their soul's inner state. That is the hell about which you have completely false concepts.

If all people followed My commandments, then the world would be a paradise, and humanity would be blessed spirits in the flesh. But since the whole world acts

against My commandments, it has become a school for hell, because the serpent of selfishness has become the sole motive for human actions.

To make it easier for humans to ascend to Me, I Myself descended onto the dark earth and wore the heavy garment of the flesh to show you as man how one can and must live to come to the Father of love.

I myself have lived as a human according to these commandments which I preached and explained to the people during my three-year teaching time. Now it is up to you whether you want to accept and fulfill them. On one side, heaven is open; on the other, hell. Everyone can choose what suits him better; because with me there are no worldly laws of "must", but only laws of should, and every child is free from me to do what it wants; the punishment or reward lies in fact: Good deeds lead to God, (God was originally called "Guti" in old German, which meant "the Good" and "Goodness.") But evil leads to Satan into hell.

The heaven from "him-ila" means the "high realm" [German:Hoch-Reich]; - But hell ["hölle"] from "hulá" means "depth", "hole", therefore identical with darkness, because darkness reigns in deep holes. Hence also the word "hell" for lower.

It was decided in divine love and wisdom to clarify to humans the work of true enlightenment about the spiritual states of the soul life. Therefore, I descended to earth and accomplished everything that had previously formed the barrier between Me and My children, namely: Since all humans have sinned in the spirit of Adam and Eve, as they stem from this spirit, the punishment was set in divine wisdom that all must suffer and die like the crucifixion, as I later did as Jesus Himself when I, from wisdom transitioned into love for My children, accomplished this; otherwise, the face of the Father would have remained forever invisible to you. (ChtS. 4.318)

I have shown myself in the prophets, how I will come and live, even how I will die, namely, the first promise I made to Adam, that I will come to separate the evil from the good. (Genesis 3:15)

Then in the year 919 BC, I came to the Adamites and designated the soul of the virgin Pura from Hanoch as the one who would once carry Me under her heart, which came to pass in her reincarnation under the name of Mary. (ChtS I. 477,10)

Then it was Noah, Abraham, Isaac and Jacob to whom I promised that from their seed, the Messiah would one day emerge as the Redeemer of the world. (ChtS I. 42,95.96. - 1 Moses 22:18; 26:4; 28:14; 32:12; 49:8,10)

The prophet Nathan prophesied to king David, according to My words, that I would one day raise the Messiah from his seed (2 Sam. 7:12).

The prophet Micah was commanded to designate the place where I was to be born and that this would happen in Bethlehem, the city of David, in the tribe of Judah (Micah 5:1).

Furthermore, Isaiah received the prophecy to indicate that a virgin would become My mother (`Isa. 7, 14-16`) and that I, 'the eternal Father', Myself would descend to Earth. (`Isa. 9,5.`) My birth is recounted in the youth history of Jesus [Childhood of Jesus, Jakob Lorber] by Jacob [G2385: James], the youngest son of Joseph, whom he had with his wife named Thamar, a townsman's daughter from Nazareth, who had already been dead for 5 years when Mary was married to the 70-year-old old man Joseph, for reasons which will be told to you in My youth history.

The Pseudo-Matthew, l'Rabbas, a writer from Sidon, says indeed: I was Mary's first son; (Matt 1:25) but the sources of this collector are not original, but only a compilation from what people told him in the years 50 - 67. (ChtS 17B, 18) I was Mary's first and only son; the designation that Joseph's sons are My brothers corresponds to Matt 23:8-9, according to which all people are brothers and sisters to each other. Thus, I Myself designated My own mother and brothers as brothers according to the spirit and sisters according to the soul, when they do the will of Divine love, called "Father". (Matt 12:47-50) The spirit of every man without exception is male, the soul female, therefore is the bride of the Spirit and at the same time His sister - and also mother - when it performs its duty as mother. But how can a man have a mother-soul at the same time? Indeed, is the man not the second half woman, "Adam and Eve"!? Man is only completely human if he consists of man and woman, hence the proverb: "Man and woman [are] one body." Spiritually, an entirely different worldview exists, than the one which clever intellectual wisdom has cultivated, as a result of which people are not brothers and sisters, but selfish devils against each other.

Mankind is to be understood in this way and not according to worldly concepts, according to which even among brothers and sisters in general, there is no spiritual unity.

I am often called the "Son of Man"; and I also called Myself so, because after the flesh I was really built according to the flesh out of human blood.

Many called Me the son of David, because they thought Me to be the Messiah who should come from the seed of David, and indeed Mary and Joseph were descendants of David, the latter as her wedded husband, so that she might have a man of her motherhood before the world, because the world was not allowed to know that in Jesus, their Jehovah Himself walked among men, otherwise this would have been a judgment for men and not freedom, because they would have yielded to everything out of fear. World rulers have only slaves as their subjects; I as God cannot enslave a man within whom is My own Spirit! - My children must

have full freedom so that no injustice happens to anyone. I cannot use children with a slavish spirit of fearful submission as the freest being in the universe, therefore [they have] full freedom - but also punishment for abuse of this freedom.

Herewith is My descent from the heavens proved from the prophecies of the prophets, and I do not need any better proofs in this regard than those which I have just mentioned; thus we are moving on to another presentation of proof.

## PART III ~ Jesus as Son of God, is God's Wisdom

When people are unclear about the concepts of the doctrine of God (theology) for a long time, they get used to it and take no trouble to investigate whether everything is in order. It is also strange that no priest takes the trouble to investigate whether the gifts of the Holy Spirit can still be obtained and preserved today! My world order is always the same, only people are different from how my My apostles and disciples were.

For eighteen centuries I have waited for the priests to come to their senses and that genuine apostolic life would begin again. But in vain. Therefore I had to plant a church of My own to follow Me and be led by Me. And with this I communicate as once with the apostles through the inner word. This small and hidden church has My full and direct light, but not all, but only the advanced ones, to whom I continually announce My will.

If only men would understand My love for them, it would be possible to do something with them; but unfortunately, they are stubborn, and everyone believes that he is right, but his neighbor is wrong. Love, humility and patience in religious and spiritual matters have mostly been lost to people.

Fanaticism and selfishness on the one hand, criticism and hatred on the other, do not lead to conviction, even less harmony.

Again and again I come with love, send people among you to tell you the truth, but there is no cure for you! But if I were to come with hunger, pestilence, earthquakes, etc., you would lament that I am ruthless. But one thing will happen, either follow or the rod of discipline will come down on you!

Why not follow? Why be so stubborn and not examine My new revelations, called Father's Words, which are published in the new Theosophical writings and which are also called Christian-Theosophical books? There is light and spirit for the enlightenment of the Holy Scriptures, especially for the New Testament, because all My journeys, deeds and words during My three-year teaching period are described in it with words that are easy to understand.

It will not be long before I will root out the building of lies and deceit. All religions of the world are included in it, because everything is useless, for religions where there is arrogance, hatred, persecution, impatience and fanaticism against people of other faiths, are not of Christ's religion. These are the characteristics of the falseness of your religions, while My Religion is of love, humility, tolerance and purity of thoughts, desires, words and deeds. Where is such a religion among you? Nowhere.

Yes, there are some exceptions among individual people; but these are rare, occasionally occurring here and there in isolation and therefore not decisive for the general.

But if one considers everything, then one must view the degeneration of the people from the standpoint that My teaching is grotesquely distorted in its interpretation and silence is kept regarding all transgressions of this teaching; because it is not observed by the teachers themselves.

Then how can the people be good if the examples are bad?! Just keep going, the payment in the afterlife becomes all the greater, because all crimes resulted from the examples of the superiors. The people would never have fallen morally as low as they are now if the priests, like My apostles once did, had watched over the purity of My teaching and lived and acted accordingly as good examples. My commandments would never have been trampled underfoot, as they are now, if the priests had fulfilled their duties.

Long, long it went quietly, so that one has completely forgotten Me. One believed to serve Me and practiced works of the devil; while My love is the religion of love.

The time has come that I shall separate the wheat from the chaff. The return of Christ, of which I prophesied before Caiaphas (Matt 26:64; 24:30) is now at the door. Look, this is already a cloud you are reading here. In it I am, you hear My voice, but you do not see Me because the cloud covers Me. But from this I speak; for your eyes cannot see Me, because your heart is far from ready to see God!

Strive to receive Me lovingly in these bright clouds of My admonishing words and by no means reject Me! For otherwise lightning and thunder would have to follow behind! and woe to you! if even that would not suffice. I do not lack the means to break your stubbornness.

When you accept My words without criticism and judgement then you do well, because I only punish the stubborn ones through themselves, but not innocent ones, therefore I announce to you in advance what My will is.

Well, this you know. Therefore act according to My words and not according to those of your priest! Because every thing has a beginning and an end and so it will be with your priests, for they walk the ways of My opponent who is also called Satan.

Not only this book shall you read, but all books which I have dictated Myself; but all others should be rejected as anti-Christian, this is My Word and My Will for

those who want to follow Me. But with the others, who reject My words as not coming from Me, I will judge [them] Myself.

Now that you know My will, your task is to put it into practice; because having knowledge and not living and acting according to it, brings you not one step further in the spiritual.

Now we come to the explanation of the designations Son of God and Wisdom of God, which lie over your material understanding like a threefold veil of Moses and leave your conceptions about My personality entirely in the dark.

Already Isaiah (Isa 9:6) speaks of the Son that He is the eternal God, the Father Himself - but He is simultaneously the wisdom or the advice of Divine love. In Isaiah, all attributes of God are mentioned in this boy, and if He is the eternal Father God Himself, as it is written there, how could the eternal God the Father become a Son of God? Could your reason not rise up so far to ask: Yes, if Christ is the eternal Father God, then how can He be the Son of God according to our material concepts? This contradicts healthy reason. Something different must be meant, something spiritual?

You would surely have found out something like this if there had been a core spiritual understanding of the Holy Scriptures in your being! But this darkness clearly shows that you nibble on the bark of the letters of the Bible, but neither know nor understand the core or spirit that is in it.

Yes, you are dark in the interpretation of the holy scriptures! You know My words, you find them full of contradictions, because you interpret them materially instead of spiritually, and you do not distinguish My words from human words, which are strongly represented in them! Humbly to come to Me and to ask for My enlightenment — that you do not know; for to mere words without love and humility in the heart, I give no answer.

But now in the last hour - because the Bridegroom is on the move - fill your heart lamps with the oil of love (Matt 25:1-13) and humility to Me and to the neighbor so that I do not find you unprepared and exclude you from My love, for then you would fall into the trap of judgement.

So what is the meaning of the term Son of God, since I Myself called Myself that and others also said that I am the Son of God? (Matt 28:19; John 3:35; Matt 2:15; 3:17; 4:3; 8:29; 14:33; 16:16; 27:43; Luke 1:32; 4:41; 22:70; John 1:34; 3:16; 9:35; 10:36; 14:13; Gal 2:20; Col 1:13; 1 John 3:8; Hebr 1:2,3,5; Mark 3:11; Ps 2:7)

See, a considerable number of proofs that I am the Son of God and yet not what your worldly wisdom understands by this. Here the wisdom of the wise is shamed and destroyed (1 Cor 1:19), because it wants to take hold of everything by hand or

reason and prove it by experiments before it believes anything. But even a small child understands that son cannot be father, and father cannot be son! And yet it is clear enough in Isaiah (9:6) that I am God the Father and was it immediately at birth! How could I subsequently degrade Myself from God the Father to the Son of God!? If I, as God the Father were now a son, first the term "the eternal Father" would have to be destroyed in the Son, otherwise it would not work, so there would be no God the Father if He had transformed Himself into the Son. The nonsense of the material concept is so clear that no long argument about it seems necessary.

Behold, the nonsense of your material conception of the Bible is evident; for already the words: The Father is in Me, and I (the Son) am in the Father, should have shown you that God should not be understood in material terms; but you did not realize at all that neither Father nor Son, nor Holy Spirit can be in God's material conception. Millions of readers of the Holy Scriptures and so many millions of spiritual eclipses! I ask you: is only one term correct from your material assumption? No! Not a single one!

Everything you have thought, believed, written and taught about God so far is nonsense! For according to your material concepts, how can the Father be in the Son and the Son in the Father? Is it not yet clear to you that this is quite impossible? And yet Father, Son and Holy Spirit are always so contradictory when you understand them materially. This is enough for you to see that you have to understand the Holy Scriptures as I, your God Jesus, teach you, but not as it was the case until now.

Do you perhaps think the apostles did not understand the word "Son of God" either? Oh, no! They all finally understood it. Therefore Paul said: Christ is the "Divine wisdom", (1 Cor 1:24) but if Christ was the Divine truth, then the question is: has God the Father no wisdom? Only the Son, then? So contradictions accumulate with every question that you ask out of your previous building of faith and this not only because of My person, but also in many other places of the Bible where spiritual things are reported and this is understood materially.

Divine Wisdom was I named according to My soul; for this is born out from and into the Divine Love, which spiritually is called "Father". Therefore I am called according to the soul "only begotten Son" (Son, Gothic *sunus*, Sanskrit *su-nu*, meaning: "begetter", "born one") because the Divine Wisdom, which in spiritual correspondence language is called "Son", is inherent or intrinsic to the Divine Love. (John 1:14; 8:19) Thus you must perceive Me spiritually, then it is correct; for I am already named by Isaiah (9:6) as a newborn child "Counsel" (of the eternal Father God), and the Counsel of God can indeed be no one else but the Divine Wisdom Itself.

Herewith you now also know this term and so I still want to acquaint you with where the soul comes from, who forms it and why it is there.

The soul of Jesus is an outflow of Divine rays of light from the Divine flame of love, spiritually called "Father". These rays are the Divine Wisdom and this is molded into the body form, which the Spirit chose according to His will and designed with his own imagination. This imagination as a spiritual product is therefore the soul of Jesus, which the Spirit of God Himself created for His use. And this Spirit gave the soul the intelligence to build up the material body exactly according to its spiritual form in the mother's womb.

I said of Myself: "I came from the Father and came into the world". Therefore, all such special expressions referred to My soul, being the Wisdom of God - spiritually called the Son of God - and this was the proclaimed teaching of Divine Love. Therefore I said: All that the Father has (namely from Wisdom) is Mine, therefore He will take from Mine (i.e. from Wisdom) and proclaim it to you (John 16:15) because the Father and I (His Wisdom) were one in Love, Wisdom and Omnipotence. (John 10:30)

Since - according to the soul - I was the Divine Wisdom representing My teaching of love, I said to the people: I am the light of the world. (John 8:12) For where God is, there is light in the spiritual, because God's Light and God's Wisdom is one and the same. This is the heavenly bread of spiritual life, it is the flesh of Divine Love, as the evangelist John said in chapter six (:32-58), thus not My personal flesh, but only a corresponding word for the teaching of Divine Love, which is deposited in part in the New Testament.

In the letter to the Hebrews which Peter wrote from Arimathea in the year 48, it says that God the Father created the world through his Son. (Hebr 1:2) These words are meaningful and, according to the creation story of Moses, a contradiction, because Moses does not speak of a son, but God Himself was the one who brought everything about. If we take Peter's words materially, as "Son of God" has been interpreted materially until now, then the Son has done it and not the Father God, so here again, there is a significant contradiction. And yet there are so many who have so far defended a material, literal interpretation of Scripture! But if we take the matter spiritually, then it is quite different, because if "Son" means "wisdom", then God created through His Wisdom the world which was the counsel of Divine Love (Isa 9:6) and therefore "miraculous" (Isa 9:6) in its thought-forms and in every direction of its creation. And I tell you, Peter knew well what he was writing, for he was aware of it through the rebirth since the Pentecostal Sabbath, according to John 14:26.

Finally, we want to discuss the creation story according to John, where it says (from the original text): In the original foundation of being, the Word was, and the Word was with God, and God was the Word. And the Word became flesh (Christ)

and dwelt among us; we saw His glory (on Mount Tabor, Matt 17:2), a glory such as that of the only begotten from the Father, full of grace and truth. (John 1:1, 14.)

The word stands for Son in the first epistle John 5:7 where it says: "The witnesses are three in heaven: The Father, the Word and the Holy Spirit; while in Matt 28:19 is said: "Baptize them in the name of the Father, the Son and the Holy Spirit.

The Word stands for Son in the first epistle of John 5:7, where it says: There are three witnesses in heaven: the Father, the Word, and the Holy Spirit; whereas in Matthew 28:19 it says: Baptize them in the name of the Father, the Son, and the Holy Spirit.

These statements are sufficient for us to understand that the Word of God, the united divine love and wisdom, was the becoming that created the world, and this becoming, derived from the primordial word "was," is the successive process of making and arising.

All this together: Council, Wisdom, Son and Word, refer to the Divine Light of which the soul of God consists and was called Jesus Christ when it took on human form. The word "soul" comes from the root si, which means to glow, to shine, to radiate; from it, Si-la - the lamp, the light, is the original word of soul. Now you have also from this word the confirmation of the saying: I am the light of the world (John 8:12). For My soul was indeed of the Light or Wisdom of God, and it was the Light of the world.

The Father is greater than I am.

Yes, the Father is greater than I, for I am Wisdom; but the Father is Love and this is the Queen in God. Therefore this Queen is the Ruler in God to whom Wisdom has subordinated the holiness of My soul and united it with Love into one Being of Truth. (John 14:6)

Therefore I said: I came from the Father and go back to the Father, for the Father is greater than I (John 16:28). But this Father is in Me and I in Him, therefore we are One in everything. (John 10:37,38; 12:49; 14:10; 10:30; 12:45; 14:7,9)

This is always the only correct interpretation about Me, not according to the wrong interpretation of the wisdom of the sages of the world. For where love is not greater than wisdom, the Son is ruler and the Father the slave in the house, as in the lives of the wise men of the world who - by their wisdom - have made the world a second-degree hell.

### **PART IV** ~ Christ is the Holy Spirit

The power of the Holy Spirit lies in the magnetic-electrical ether that fills all the spaces of the world. People also have a spirit that fills their whole body, it is called the nerve-spirit, and just as it sets the whole body in motion, so the etherspirit of like origin, sets the whole world in motion - because it lies within Him and is surrounded by Him.

Many believe that the Holy Spirit is a kind of holiness of God, a God of its own with its own person, and imagine it in the animal-form of a dove, similar to how the power of God appeared at the baptism of Jesus at the Jordan. But they forget that the Holy Spirit came upon the apostles in the form of fiery tongues. So the Holy Spirit is not a person or an animal, but a symbol of the holy doctrine of love that I presented during My three-year apprenticeship.

How beautiful might a three-person deity look, who is also an animal being! Who will not shake his head at the wisdom of men in concocting such a rare absurdity of a deity? How can I, as God, consist of two persons and one poultry animal? What is the dove supposed to represent? For example, spiritual love and spiritual chastity? Is there an animal that would mate more animalistically than the doves? And this is supposed to be Me, your God? I shall be an animal as Holy Spirit? Oh, what weakness of human thoughts! To imagine the person of their God as the pagans of old did. A white dove may represent innocence or chastity by its color, but not by its body, for the love of doves is sensual and not spiritual.

The form of the Holy Spirit as John the Baptist saw Him was not quite the form of a white dove, but a white cloud, small like a dove and somewhat similar to it, but not a dove shape.

As far as the form of the Father is concerned, I must also object that God had no personal form before the incarnation in Jesus. Moses saw Jehovah in the form of a burning bush; at Sinai Moses saw Me as a fiery cloud, from which lightning and thunder came and in the form of an angel. The people of Israel, whom I led, saw Me as a white cloud by day and a cloud of fire by night. In the temple of Jerusalem I was represented by a flame of fire of more than two meters high. I sometimes let Myself be heard through a high angel-spirit, who was called "Jehovah" as My bearer of the name, but this was not My person, but only My spirit Who spoke through the mouth of such an angel-spirit. The question is, how did I come to be such a human-patriarchal figure? See, that's what man's greed for money invented.

It's strange what people would bring together to serve their financial purposes! Well, the whole Trinity is just a crude human fantasy and nothing more. No-one can see God and live because He is a consuming fire (2 Moses 33:20 [*Exodus* 

*33:20*]; 5 Moses 4:24 [*Deuteronomy 4:24*]). So, if this is the case, how did they come to see Me as an old father with a big beard and a wrinkled face? Whereas I am nothing other than a spiritual flame - a flowing sea of spiritual flames spread throughout the universe.

Now I illuminate the third figure, My Person in the body of Jesus. This person also does not suit Me, because there are such terrible caricatures among them that it is really unholy to deal so sacrilegiously with your God. If you would see My glory and the light of My Being, you would make the nonsense of visualizing Me disappear. Yes, the figures I take on in your carvings, pictures and other forms, is grotesque! Get this out of your heads; for to imagine Me in a true form is completely impossible for you. That is why I had a

"Do not make idols for yourselves, nor carved or hewn images, nor pillars, nor stones with pictorial writing to be worshipped in your land; for I am Jehovah your God. (3 Moses 26:1 [*Leviticus 26:1*]) "This is an abomination before Me!" (5 Moses 7:25 [*Deuteronomy 7:25*]; 2 Kings 21:11; Jer 7:30)

commandment in the Old Testament issued where it says:

Dishonorable (Moses humanized this word into "cursed", but I as God do not curse anyone) be the man who makes a carved and molded image, an abomination to Jehovah, a work of the artist's hands, and sets it up in secret, and all the people shall answer and speak: Amen. (5 Moses 27:15)

The worship of images, as it is practiced in Christian religions, is thus not according to Divine commandments, but according to anti-Christian human statutes.

The incarnation of Jehovah in Jesus is documented by very prominent passages of the prophets. The most interesting of these is the prophet Isaiah in chapter 7:14, where it says: "God Himself will give you a sign: Behold, a virgin shall conceive and bear a son, and shall be called Immanuel ("God with us"). (15): He will eat butter and honey; if he knows how to reject evil and choose good, [16:] the land will be desolate, of whose two kings you dread.

Here it is said that Jehovah Himself will give a sign, and what was that sign? Behold, the sign was the Fatherly love for you, which so humbled Himself that He took on the garment of an earth-dweller. It also says that a virgin will become pregnant and give birth to a child whom she will call Immanuel, i.e. "God with us". Can a virgin become pregnant? Yes, not according to your worldly concepts, but differently with Me. Behold! I brought about Adam and Eve without human procreation, was it perhaps impossible for Me to do the same for My own sake in Mary's womb? Oh, you short-sighted people, that you think so little of what is possible or impossible for God! I tell you, in the future kingdom of God on earth, all fleshly procreation will be completely forbidden; now I ask you: Who then will

give you children, if not I? Yes, truly I say to you: Just as I formed Mary in the womb of her mother Anna, and later formed the body of Jesus in Mary without a carnal procreation, so all mothers in the millennial kingdom will conceive chastely out of the Holy Spirit, without carnal procreation.

It is also said that he will eat butter and honey until he knows how to reject evil and choose good things. What does this mean? It is said here in spiritual correspondence that he will be filled with wisdom and love and that He will then reject evil and do only good.

In the further account it says: For before the boy learns to reject evil and to choose good things, the land will be desolate, of whose two kings you dread. It is a matter of knowing what land here means, what desolate means, and the two kings. See, this means that the people will become desolate from selfishness and pride, the two vices which the prophet abhorred.

We now come to the 9th chapter, 6th and 7th verse of Isaiah. There it says:

- 6. A child is born to us, a son is given to us, and the rule is on his shoulder; and he is called: Wonderful, Counsellor, Power, Hero, Eternal Father, Prince of Peace.
- 7. That his reign may be great, and that there may be no end of peace in the throne of David, and in his kingdom, that he may prepare it, and strengthen it with judgment and righteousness from now on for ever and ever. The zeal of the Lord of hosts will accomplish this.

In these two verses are great mysteries hidden, which are now brought here for discussion. Who is the child, the son, who is mentioned here, on whose shoulder the government rests? It is a ruling child, but the boy himself is the ruler; that is the remarkable thing about the child—that the government is governed by himself, for it rests on his shoulder. Therefore, this child must be a very different child from ordinary human children, because he already rules as a child himself. But even more remarkable are his names. He is called: "Wonderful, Counselor, Power, Hero, Eternal Father, Prince of Peace." What kind of strange names are these? Why should the child be called "Wonderful"? What is so wondrous about him? Behold, it is this child of God foretold by the prophets, called the Messiah or Anointed of God, who is the promised incarnation of God, for the child is called the eternal Father, Jehovah Zebaoth, God and Creator of the universe.

You have therefore the child of your Eternal Father, God and Ruler of the universe before you. The names can already be explained from this, because He is wonderful in His creation, which no one can imitate; He is the Counsellor of His own Love, He is the Power of his Holy Spirit, He is the Hero of His own virtues and He is the Prince of Spiritual Peace in the Universe and in the Heart of the people, angels and spirits; and the dominion of the universe is upon His Shoulder.

And who is this Messiah? He is the Ruler from eternity born in Bethlehem, called Jesus Christ of Nazareth. (Micah 5:2; Matt ch 1, Luke ch 1; Jacob Lorber *Childhood of Jesus*) Now we still want to test the seventh verse. It says: That his reign may be great, and there may be no end of peace in the throne of David, and in his kingdom, that he may prepare it, and strengthen it with judgment and righteousness for ever and ever. Such shall the zeal of the LORD of hosts do.

If the child is God the Father from eternity, how shall His reign be great or greater? He is the spiritual Ruler of the universe, how then shall His reign become even greater? Behold, it is not the world dominion that is meant here, but the dominion of the people on earth, who are to be brought up to be children of God, because when the Messiah came, almost the whole world except the Jews, was pagan. Over these shall the dominion of God be great, and the spiritual peace shall not end, in the spiritual throne of David and in His kingdom.

Jesus Christ, as descendant from the seed of David in the flesh through His mother Mary, was the spiritual representative of king David on earth, and the confessors of Jesus' spiritual teaching represented the spiritual kingdom of Jesus among those who have Jesus in their hearts as the Spiritual Prince of Peace. (See: Christian Theosophical *Prayer Book* p. 26.)

It is also said that His throne and strength will be established and strengthened with judgment and righteousness from now on into eternity. Thus, this spiritual kingdom would first be established and strengthened, and this was done personally through Jesus, then spiritually through the apostles and disciples. But this shall happen with judgment and righteousness, continuing into eternity. How should this be understood? The judgment referred to here aims at the repentance of the soul for all that is past and present, and the struggle against all pressing vices, lusts, desires, and sins; and man's fairness towards the weaknesses and faults of one's neighbor, considering one's own sinfulness, and indeed continuing with the same love, patience, and just forbearance in all eternity toward others because they are brothers, weak humans, and children of God.

**Zebaoth**. (*ze*, read *Be*, what is equal to *De*, from which became Latin *De*(*us*), Greek *Zeus*, "Lord", "God"; -*bath* means "battle army"; plural *baoth*, and therefore *Zebaoth* "Lord of hosts".) You see in this verse that everything discussed so far is a work of the Father God Jehovah Zebaoth; for this already tells you in verse 6 of chapter 9, because the child is the eternal Father God Himself. So he will set up the work of establishing the spiritual kingdom of David by the newborn child Immanuel, Jesus Christ Jehovah Zebaoth, since He Himself is this child, and will complete what in fact is happening and will soon complete the work. Now that you know exactly the person of Jesus and know that in Jesus Christ, God, Creator and Father of mankind had entered into flesh, we will develop our argument further.

It is a matter here of proving who and what the Holy Spirit is in God, and how its effect is manifested, and who of the two, Father and Son, is the real sender of the Holy Spirit. This will now be the task of this discussion.

The Holy Spirit is the inner power in God. (John 14:26 and Luke 24:49) He is the will of God who converts into action all that Love and Wisdom have conceived. Therefore He is also called the Holy Spirit, because He is the representative of the Godhead; (see above pages 25, 40 { in original German document}) for what would it benefit Love and Wisdom in God if Their thoughts and decisions could not be translated into work and action! That would be like the desires of an incurable sick person - to be healed.

The Holy Spirit, as the visible executor of divine decrees, is therefore the highest power within God, and there is nothing one might wish to conceive that could not be brought about by the Holy Spirit; for within it the entire Godhead in its essence is encompassed. The Holy Spirit is thus, in name, the Godhead itself.

In name, He is admittedly the third designation within God, but in essence He is not a third God within God, nor a third person of the Godhead, just as your nervespirit, with which you move your feet, hands, eyes, head, and tongue, is not a second self and no second person alongside you, and yet it is the working spirit of your thoughts and decisions, just as the Holy Spirit is the executor of Divine thoughts and decisions.

I believe that this enlightenment must be clear to you if you think a little about it, and we will come to further proofs below that will completely open your eyes. But now let us discuss the matter according to the evidence in the Holy Scriptures, so that you may see that My dictates, given since 1840 by Jakob Lorber in Graz, later by Gottfried Mayerhofer in Trieste and other writers in various countries and places, correspond exactly with the Bible, although they were put on the index in Rome and condemned among the Protestants!

The reason for this action is twofold: In Rome, they do not want to know the Truth, nor of any Christ who is the Truth (John 14:6; 2 Corinthians 3:6) as He once spread it on earth, because thereby the Roman-Catholic religion would have to fall apart. Protestant circles hold much too strongly to the literal sense of the Bible, and forget in this stubbornness that the letter kills, but the Spirit gives life and that the truth of the Bible's words lies in the living sense - through the Spirit, not in the letter. Thus I, your God in Christ, am called a heretic in My interpretation of the words of the Bible! Oh thoughtless people, when will you rise out of your cesspool of sin to understand the Spirit of Truth? For the world's rigid wisdom of reason is Satan, the adversary against spiritual truth - and therefore you persecute Me in My love when I tell you the pure truth!

It is a sad thing for Me, your Father, when you, as My children, regard Me as a liar because of heresy, thus calling Me the lying prince Satan in My loving words, mocking Me and crucifying Me with your words! I come to you through My scribes and you reject My Fatherly words and My spiritual revelations! Do you not see that this shows your spiritual eclipse if you consider the dead literal sense of the Bible to be good and genuine, but reject the spiritual enlightenment as heresy? It reflects the whole life of your spiritual backwardness and your spiritual regression! You are your own false prophets because you regard the deadly letters as truth, but the spiritual life-giving enlightenment a lie or heresy and reject them. Oh, you poor in the spirit of Divine truth! When will you abandon your intellectual wisdom, which is the real Antichrist of your literal Bible faith, and make room for love, through which alone you can come to Me in the kingdom of heaven, as clearly stated by the Apostle Paul in 1 Corinthians chapter 13! Yes, shall My Paul no longer be authoritative for you, since you seek your future in wisdom!? I am asking you, you intellectuals of the Bible, who put wisdom before love and by faith in letters conjure up false statements of the Divine doctrine: Has love for God and neighbor or the wisdom of selfishness created the sad conditions in the world!? And if it is known to everyone that the wisdom of the world has become the Satan of mankind, why do you run after Satan and abandon Me, Love, (1 John 4:8,16,20,21) who I am your God and Father, in the lurch!? - Why do you seek your Father and heaven in Satan of the world!? Oh, I tell you: truly! As long as you do not give up your intellectual wisdom, your stubbornness and your faith in letters, nobody will come to Me, your Father Jesus, because in My heaven only love, humility, patience and harmony reigns in everything.

For a long time I have waited for men to change their insight, but they remain the same, and instead of upwards, they only go downwards. Therefore I have decided to announce My Love to you in the way that is right for Me as God and Judge. Finally, the light of Love will rise and bring you closer to Me; for I know well the means through which men reach insight about what is good or evil. People grasp My words materially because they think materially instead of spiritually; this kind of understanding of My words always leads to misunderstandings and therefore to mutual faith-hostility. Every church or sect believes it has the only salvific teaching of the church; only with Me is it solely love that makes the difference. The fact that true doctrine and church do not exist anywhere proves precisely the hatred of faith and the hostility in matters of belief among the different churches and sects. There is no trace of a flock and a shepherd anywhere in the world, because everything too much involves wisdom and too little involves love in the understanding of religion, and every other enlightenment is rejected in arrogance without following My counsel: Test everything, hold onto what is good! (1 Thess. 5:21)

So see, that I come to you only with the Holy Scripture and make known to you your error and confusion. Will you still say I am a heretic? Will you still further gnaw on your dead letter and close off the spiritual core of truth from yourselves!

You Protestants have already taken over the proverbial horned religion from the Romans; now it is time that you reject the faith errors and accept My loving enlightenment faithfully and humbly, then you can approach Me to be included in My flock of children of love, where I am the Shepherd of souls.

There would still be very much to criticize what I do not like, but that is what My new books are for, which give you clarity on all questions. Whoever humbly and faithfully accepts the truth, I will also accept; but whoever criticizes My doctrine of love through the spirit of wisdom, he distances himself from Me and My flock. You should remember this once and for all!

Also the Roman Catholics will not come to Me until they reject the statutes established by men, and accept My pure teaching in the dictates of My Father words, which are the enlightenment of the Biblical text.

With this I have told you all the truth, but now I tell you: whoever has ears, listen before it is too late; for My grace is always lovingly given to all who come to Me with a humble heart, but not so to those who, with the wisdom of understanding, criticise My simple words and want to make Me a learned Christ! I am the spiritual Father and the people are My children with whom I deal like a father with his children. Yes, simply, as with mumbling children, I start with you and lead you upwards as I led My disciple John, whose Revelation no one can interpret unless I come to his help Myself. Do you believe to understand the Revelation correctly according to the words? Far from it! You have only symbolic pictures in front of you, which mean something completely different than what you imagine. But as my true language, which is spoken in My heaven, consists of such highly spiritual images of correspondence, how can you then say about Me that I am an uneducated proletarian, who does not speak your scholarly language; the language in the Christian (new) theosophical books is either not from Christ, but from spirits, or Christ is an ordinary inhabitant of the spirit realm without your high linguistic education!

And what will be the consequence of your lying spirit, since the spirit of wisdom is a lying spirit, and from it the people are liars (Psalm 116:11) is that I will do as it is written in the scripture: I will destroy the wisdom of the wise, and bring to shame the understanding of the prudent. (Isaiah 29:14; 1 Corinthians 1:19). For the light of love will dawn, and through it, the darkness of worldly wisdom will be overcome. But how, that is the Father's business.

Now we come to the further development of our topic. So what is the Holy Spirit in His action? The Holy Spirit is the communicating power of God both in matter and in spirit. In matter I am the Spirit of your Father, the invisible Power, which produces the growth, the movement, the forms and formations, as well as speech and sounds; therefore, no university scholar has ever succeeded in making even the smallest grass grow, because he cannot put in it a holy spirit of power and

intelligence! And were it not for Me who gives you the intelligence to train yourselves, to be able to do research, then you would only be animals in human form, like the poorest cretins, who have very little of the Spirit of God in them. You speak, but many of you do not know that the language comes from Me, who dwells in the heart; and this language is transformed through wisdom according to your training and is thus expressed - often completely twisted in the mouth. I tell you that what you call the five senses and still more - is nothing but the Holy Spirit out of Me, whom you call nerve-spirit and five senses; for it is the action of one and the same spirit out of Me. This is the common perception of the Holy Spirit in nature and in man.

But the Holy Spirit, as I promised to the apostles, is the rebirth of the Spirit; it is the land of love in the heart, it is the new kingdom of God — the Holy Spirit on earth. It is the baptism of the Holy Spirit spoken of by John the Baptist (John 1:33; Luke 3:16). This baptism is the only true and Divine one, because through it, one becomes a resident of heaven already on earth and has no fear of death because one has no sin.

This Holy Spirit contains in Himself all powers, graces, and gifts from God, for He is God's manifestation to men, of course not equally to all, but at least so great that everyone is satisfied. And that is what every man should strive to achieve.

At the Last Supper, when I repeated My teaching to the disciples, I said: "I will ask the Father that He send you in My stead another Comforter, who will remain with you forever." (John 14:16)

The spiritual equivalent of Comforter is: The spirit of grace, love, wisdom and faith. He is the Holy Spirit of truth. But the world does not want to know anything about this Spirit, because it considers itself exceedingly wise, but is very unwise in its love for its neighbor.

I give here a definition of truth which completely characterizes the spirit that is in it, and it is this: Truth is a quality of man which unites love and wisdom into one virtue and expresses this in thoughts, desires, words, deeds, and all undertakings and all other matters. But when Pilate asked Me, "What is truth?" I answered him, "Truth is love combined with wisdom, and this is revealed in the highest love of God from the heart and in unselfish works towards one's neighbor." (John 18:38)

From these two definitions, the whole quality of the Spirit of Truth is revealed to you, and you are doing the will of your Father when you enliven the Spirit of Truth within you and let it take effect; for I said at the Last Supper: I am the way, the truth and the life, no one comes to the Father but through Me. (John 14:6) But If I am the way, then one has to walk in the world as I have walked. But My walking consisted in virtues and in truth, therefore you also have to walk in My

virtues (virtues of Jesus are explained in the *Christian Theos. Prayer Book*) because they are the Spirit of Truth of which I spoke. Only he who walks in the spirit of Jesus, who is the Spirit of truth, will receive eternal life. But the one who does not walk in My Spirit, will not come to the Father, who is the Love in Me.

I told the apostles: "But when the Spirit of truth shall come, he shall teach you all things and remind you of all that I have taught you. But this one the Father will send in My name." (John 14:26)

The apostles at that time understood almost nothing of all this, they did not know what kind of spirit it would be. That is why I gave them several signs, among others, that He would teach them everything and remind them of everything that I taught them, but which they forgot, so that they then understood that the inner word (Gal 1:11,12) like the wisdom of Peter (II Peter 1:19) and many other gifts, are from the Holy Spirit.

Furthermore, I said that the Father will send this Spirit in My name, which means that My love will send this spirit united with Fatherly love. Now one will ask, how can one comprehend this, since the Father, as the Spirit of God's love, dwelt in Jesus' heart? I reply: The spirit I represented in God was the soul, but this is the Spirit of wisdom in God, in Me, as in every human being, for it represents God's soul and is the spiritual temple of God, while the body is the material, yet living temple of God. (John 2:19; 1 Cor 6:19; 2 Cor 6:16; Eph 2:21)

This Wisdom had to lay everything at the feet of love and sacrifice it. Therefore, the Holy Spirit went out through My love, from which it follows that the Holy Spirit went out as power and grace from Father and Son or from Love and Wisdom, but which itself was all love. Therefore I said: "I tell you the truth: it is to your advantage that I go (to the Father). For if I do not go, the Comforter will not come to you; but if I go, I will send him to you." (John 16:7) Yes, I express Myself very precisely: "I will not leave you as orphans; but I (Myself) will come to you." (John 14:18,28) It was clearly stated that I Myself am the Comforter and the Holy Spirit of truth, grace and God's will-power, Who guides and rules the world. (1 Cor 1:24; Luke 24:49; John 14:26; Acts 1:8; 2:4; 19:6; Rom 15:19; 1 Cor 12)

My disciples remembered everything well; but no-one understood it as I meant it, because no-one ever spoke to them in this way before. They lacked the courage to ask Me, because they were sad, because I told them that I would leave them. (John 16:5,6)

In this way I prepared them for the baptism of fire of the Holy Spirit, which was to create a small heaven on earth for them, so that they should joyfully stand up for Me and My teaching, and if necessary, even die for the truth, and should not be afraid of it, which also happened later.

My disciples looked at Me sadly all the time; for it seemed impossible for them to be without Me. Who was to provide them with bread, as I had done before, who was to work miracles in My stead? But they said: He says He will come Himself, so it will happen, and meanwhile we will wait and see what happens. But that I really would go to die on the cross, as I told them several times in advance, nobody among them considered. (Mark 9:31-32; 10:33-34; Luke 9:22,44; 12:50)

We sat quietly together and very few words were spoken by the disciples, because I was especially serious this evening and so they did not dare to disturb Me with questions. But even though I was always in a completely good mood to answer much, all was serious, sad and quiet according to My mood in the dining room of the innkeeper who eagerly listened to My speech, because I was a dear guest to him who in the first year of My apprenticeship, cured his feet of gout that prevented him from walking.

He clung to me and My teaching with great love; he was all the more sad when he already the next day had to watch My story of suffering and death on the cross, because he was the same day among My companions until My death and then went home, weeping all the way. Then only he and My disciples understood the words I said: "Verily, verily, I tell you: you will weep and lament, but the world will rejoice; you will grieve, but your sadness will turn into joy." (John 16:20) But how this would take place was still unclear to them. Nevertheless, several firmly believed that I would rise from the dead, especially Peter was firmly convinced of this. (Acts 2; *Passion story*)

I still spoke many a word to My disciples, which later John recorded exactly, who is the only source of My teaching and farewell speech of that time, which I do not want to repeat here further, since the main task - to show what the Holy Spirit means in God - has already been accomplished. Let us now turn our attention to the further development of the graces and gifts of the Holy Spirit, so that everyone may understand what is meant by them. But the gifts, graces and powers that were given at that time on the Sabbath of Pentecost, are the following:

#### Gifts of Grace and Power of the Holy Spirit in the Rebirth

The Holy Spirit is the omnipotence and grace of God. These gifts of the Holy Spirit were possessed by the apostles, disciples, and advanced spiritual servants of the early Christian community since the Holy Spirit's baptism at Pentecost.

During a dictation to me (F. Sch.) on September 10, 1899, the Father says: My love leads you in various ways to a life of spiritual perfection, and whoever follows My instructions, finds salvation. But whoever walks his own ways, I let him go where he wants to go.

So to those who let themselves be led by Me, these I give My gifts and graces of the rebirth of the spirit. These gifts and graces are, however, as follows:

**The gift of wisdom.** (1 Corinthians 12; Eph. 1:17) This gift is not that of the wisdom of the world's understanding, but it is the gift by which one possesses the right light and knowledge in spiritual matters. It enables the holder to present the most accurate evidence in defense against any adversary and thus disarm the adversary.

**The gift of knowledge.** (1 Corinthians 12; 1 Corinthians 14) Everyone graced by Me through the first rebirth of the Spirit also receives the grace to know all sciences taught at high schools—both spiritually and materially—completely and perfectly, which cannot be learned at a state university because they are still being researched there. But here, from Me, they are fully given and perfected.

**The power of rock-solid faith** (like Peter had). (Matthew 16:18; 1 Corinthians 12; 2 Corinthians 4:13) This grace, a gift of My love, enables people to work miracles, because their strong faith strengthens them in that what they believe must happen irrevocably.

**The power to heal the sick.** (James 5:15; 1 Corinthians 12; Mark 16:18) This gift is a glorious gift from Me, through which the endowed person can do much good to his neighbor, and as a result of which many fervent prayers of thanksgiving are sent to Me by the healed. Love of God and neighbor is thereby practiced to the fullest extent.

**The gift of wonders.** Those who receive this gift of power are empowered to do things that are beyond the realm of possibility for other people. Therefore, everyone should strive to be an efficient instrument of My love's teaching, so that he can confirm the power of the Word through miracles. (1 Corinthians 12)

The gift of prophecy or prediction, foretelling. This is a very high grace that is granted to those who have come into favour with Me through their special strength of faith. Here I mainly look at capable characters who believe what they say without doubt themselves. For how can such a prophecy of things that must first happen, or happen in other distant places come to pass for him who does not believe himself? (Compare Acts 11:27-28 — and 2 Peter 1:19-21, where Peter calls it "a more sure prophetic word.") — 1 Corinthians 12.

The gift to discern and recognize the spirits (1 Cor 12; 1 John 4:1-3) i.e. the gifted one sees into the heart of his neighbor and feels in his thoughts what his neighbor thinks and feels in his heart.

**The gift of tongues**, (1 Cor. 12; - 1 Cor. 14) is the ability to speak and understand the languages of the world. This allows the blessed individual to communicate with every person and therefore also to teach them divine doctrines and matters.

**The gift of interpretation**, that is, the gift of interpreting the Holy Scripture. (1 Cor. 12:5, 10, 17, 18) This gift or grace is indispensable if one wants to grasp correctly the spiritual deciphering of the Old and New Testaments, which are full of spiritual words that are usually not understood and therefore taken materially (Rom. 8:26), which gives a false concept.

**The power of the word.** (Acts 5:5,9) Whoever has the power to accomplish something by word alone, must have a firm belief that what he believes will surely happen, otherwise it will not happen.

**The power of prayer.** (Acts 9:40) The prayer of a believer softens the Divine heart, and I allow what the prayer desires to happen, if it is not to the harm of the person concerned. (Rom 8:26)

**The gift of willpower**. This grace, combined with the gift of faith, is creative and works miracles that no-one who is not born again can explore and imitate.

**The gift of teaching others.** (10) 1 Cor 14) It's not as easy being a teacher as you might humanly think. The teacher must have his lecture convincingly in his mind and develop the lectures in such a way that they are accepted by the listeners in a friendly way.

**The gift of eloquence.** Yes, every man can speak, but there are very few true speakers, therefore this favour is for the spreaders of My teaching a decided condition of success in speaking.

The grace of clairvoyance, clairaudience and clairsentience. (Rev 1:10; 4:2; 17:3) These graces enable people to see spirits, to speak to them; to see over distances, over and through all obstacles; to speak to and see spiritually bornagain people many miles away (telepathy in person); to look into the past and the future; to know the contents of a book, a letter, a newspaper, without having read them, to look into the starry worlds and what is in it, to see everywhere through everything, thus also through people; but everything only on request.

The grace of the power to drive out evil spirits (devils). (Mark 16:17) Grace has the effect that spirits that have crept into the homes of people have to leave again through the power of faith of the words of prayer, and also out of those who are possessed.

The mercy that poisons are harmless. (Mark 16:18; Acts 28:3) The grace that poisons cannot harm a person, is a beautiful grace that amazes and astonishes the opponents and instills them with respect for people whose faith can accomplish such things. Therefore it is granted to all the born-again.

**The "Inner Word".** Every reborn has the Inner Word, which he can receive beforehand already, in order to have contact with Me and I can give him the necessary instructions what he is allowed to do and what he is not allowed to do. (Cf. Paul in Gal. 1:11,12; Acts 16:6; 1 Cor 2:10; 2:13,14; Eph 1:17)

The gift of spiritual powers to be able to put into action something that is impossible for laymen. This gift extends to various occurrences when it is needed to achieve a spiritual purpose.

**The gift of virtues** through which the born-again does not become proud of his knowledge and ability, since he does everything through Me and thereby give only Me the honor.

The grace of the gift of love, joy and bliss, because I give the gifted one to taste it already on earth, even if in a very limited way, as far as the flesh allows it to be enjoyed; for without this, the world would still be a great burden to him, as it is otherwise for as long as he is not yet born again. (Rom 5:5; 15:30; 1 Cor 13; Gal 5:22)

The grace of patience and inner peace - because without these, all gifts would not bring him satisfaction.

The grace of humility, to place no importance on himself and to immediately transfer all thanks that people give him to Me.

A born-again walks sinlessly in My sight, (Rom 8:2; 1 Cor 6:11) because his sins are completely forgiven him, for he cannot be born again until he has risen through My virtues. - Dear children, diligently strive for the gifts and graces of rebirth, for you do not know what will be achieved through them! You also commune with Me personally; you see Me whenever you wish to see Me. Nothing will remain hidden from you that you should know or see. Your united gifts and graces grant you a state of divinity in a small measure. Therefore, it is surely worth suppressing your material desires and cravings in order to receive spiritual and heavenly gifts and graces. Of course it takes a long time until I give them, because man must first prove himself to be able to receive and keep them—that is, grow strong enough to sin no more—so that I am not compelled to take back the gifts and graces once granted. Amen.

There are many passages in the New Testament which refer to the spiritual gifts of being born again and which can be read there. They are especially the

following: (Rom 8:14-17; Acts 19:2; Rom 7:6; 8:6; Gal 5:17; Rom 8:11,13,15; Gal 4:6; Rom 14:17; 15:19; 1 Cor 12:3; 1 Cor 15:16; 2 Cor 3:6; 3:17; Gal 6:1; Eph 1:18; 4:30; 5:9; 6:17; Tim 1:7; Tit 3:5; 1 Peter 4:14; 1 John 3:24; 4:13; Luke 24:49; Acts 1:8)

A rebirth through conversion from worldly to spiritual life, i.e. a material rebirth through leaving all vices and passing over into good virtues, the way it is applied and taught in Protestant books, does not exist in My order. –

From the present list and from My enlightening instructions, you can see everything what the apostles and disciples received from the Holy Spirit on the Sabbath of Pentecost. This includes magnetic healings by laying on of hands to the sick. One may argue that such healings also happen nowadays without the gifts of the Holy Spirit. This is certainly correct because I, as the Spirit of Love, also provide compassionate help in healings of the sick. However, there is a big difference between a magnetizer and someone born again in the Spirit: the former may heal some quickly, some slowly, and some not at all; a reborn person heals completely and quickly the first time because it is always a miraculous healing.

Since you now know from the previous enlightenments that I am God the Father, Son and Holy Spirit in one person, it is therefore easy for you to understand that when I appeared among My apostles after the resurrection, I could say to the apostles out of My own power: "Receive the Holy Spirit" (John 20:22) But this gift was not the same as at Pentecost, but I breathed on them, strengthening them to the extent that they had no such fear of the temple as before. They did not receive any other gifts and graces except for being able to understand and explain the Bible texts spiritually.

Herewith the proof about My person as God and Father of creation is completed and it will be to your benefit if you accept the facts as they were described to you here. For there is no other God in all the universe except the One who has been revealed and portrayed to you here in His Being; and you would do well to accept with thanksgiving the words of your Father and to live and act accordingly.

### **PART V** ~ Jesus, the Prince of Peace

King of Heaven and Earth. Judge of the World.

Every man can work his way up when he has the earnestness and will to avoid the worldly and to strive for the spiritual because everything depends on how one proceeds to reach their goal and to avoid obstacles.

Who wouldn't do everything to reach their ultimate happiness and become happy? It is a fact that man does everything when he has love for something, therefore one also has to have love for Me when one wants to come to Me. But not only to Me, but also to My children and these are all people on Earth, because My spirit dwells in them.

Whoever follows the rules of My teaching can confidently expect that I will welcome them into My love and continue to guide them spiritually. Yes, I do everything to make My children happy when they come to Me. But the main point is that they leave the world behind and completely surrender to Me, because half a life is of no use to either me or them. Either they live completely for Me or completely for the world - because one can never faithfully serve two masters who fight against each other. I and the Satan, who represents the world, are indeed the two masters meant in this context.

But when you know that the world with its life turning away from God is exactly the material Satan, then take care to distance yourself from the world and to come to Me, who am your God, Creator and Father.

The awareness of who I am and who the world is, should already bring about the firm decision in you to completely renounce the world and to follow only Me. But unfortunately, your false upbringing, both ecclesiastical and state-wise, has made antichrists out of you, because the one who does not live and act according to Christ's teaching, lives and acts against Christ, and is therefore an anti-Christ, or against Christ.

Look at the Ten Commandments, for example! Is there only one commandment among them that you respect? I tell you: None! And then do you want to call yourselves Christians? Whoever does not keep Christ's commandments, since Christ is God, Creator, and Father, is not a Christian but a criminal against the commandments that instruct him to love God above all and to love his neighbor as himself.

There is only one Spirit of God and one Spirit of Satan in all creation. It is said: Where the Spirit of God is, there is freedom. (2 Cor 3:17) Tell Me, where is there freedom in the world? Humanity is bound in spiritual and material slavery, and

people practice the oppression of freedom over their brothers and sisters. Freedom (2 Cor 3:17), equality (Isa 40:3), and brotherhood (Matt 23:8,9) are the words of God.

Who enjoys the freedom of mind and body in the state according to My Divine commandment? Where is the equality of all people? Where is the brotherhood according to the sense I have established? I say, nowhere! I therefore ask you: tell Me: is My Divine Spirit ruling among you?!

Think about what you do and know that you will give account to Me after your death! That is why I say to you: Turn away from your un-Christian life and actions, because they are directly aimed against Me, your God and Judge, - as the spirit in people!

If you will follow, then I will write to your credit what you have done, that your sins that cry out to heaven will not be so great. But if you do not follow, then your punishment will be doubled.

Because as Ruler from eternity, I came into the world. (Micah 5:2) I am a prince of the spiritual rule of peace. (Isaiah 9:6) and I have all authority in heaven and on earth. (Matthew 28:18)

And you priests, take the life of My apostles as example and live and act accordingly, only then you will be My true servants. Therefore think of my ruling, so that it does not come true for you, namely the verse that you, as you think you are the first - will not finally become the last! Because many are called but few are chosen. (Matt 20:16)

Where I am considered as God and your spiritual King, there is nothing but the fulfillment of My divine teaching of love. There is only one "Holy Father", and He is in heaven.

(Revelation 15:3, 4; Matthew 23:9; John 17:11) - "Good" in spiritual divine meaning is holy or infallible; therefore, I said that no one is good or holy, that is, infallible, except God alone. (Matthew 19:17; Mark 10:18; Luke 18:19; ChTS. 41:1.)

Without exception, however, people are all brothers and sisters in the true sense of My Word in Matthew 23:8. Therefore become men in the sense of My holy word and make an effort to make good what you have done against My teaching so far.

# **PART VI ~ The Holy Trinity**

In the present enlightenments, you have a clear overview of what the Father, what the Son and what the Holy Spirit in God, means. Now let us go into the matter more deeply, in order to clarify the great primordial presence in God, so that no misunderstanding may arise.

Christians had, up until the year 325, a God in one person; but at that time, the Roman priests at the Council of Nicaea invented a God in two persons: Father and Son, thus a duality. 56 years later, that is, in the year 381, they established the three-person God: Father, Son, and Holy Spirit, in a material form and interpretation, as I have already explained to you. Therefore, I do not wish to further explain this nonsense.

The Holy Trinity embraces the Godhead as he truly is, and there is no longer any mystery before you as to what you should believe and consider to be truth. But there are people who never have enough enlightenment and therefore again and again fall into old darkness of concepts introduced by erroneous teaching. That is why I see Myself compelled to give you a thorough explanation, which will no longer give rise to doubts about what is to be understood by this description, namely:

The Holy Trinity embraces the whole Godhead in its original truth and it is the task of man to remember it precisely, because it is the essence of God, who is at the same time your Creator, God and Father, who dwells within you.

It is a complete misunderstanding to attach separate concepts of the action of this or that God to the individual designations in God; - for the Father does nothing without the Son, and the Son does nothing without the Father, and the Holy Spirit does nothing without the Father and the Son, because these three are inseparable from one another, like the flame, its light and the radiating heat. The comparison is: The flame represents the Father, its light the Son and the warmth the effect of it, which means life in the universe, which is brought into action through the Holy Spirit, the divine willpower of God. This is the definition of God as "pure eternal Love" - for:

Without a flame there is no light, because it is born of the flame, and because the light that goes out of the Divine flame of Love, is born of this flame, therefore the Divine Wisdom, because it is this very light born of the flame, is called "Son of God", because this light, which is born from the flame, is the divine wisdom. The soul of Jesus is exactly the form created by the Spirit of love in God within His imagination.

The power of Divine Love is the life (John 14:6) in the universe, because without it nothing would be able to develop or live. But without a flame there would be no warmth, and without light, warmth could not make anything grow, because electricity is in the light, and through it the outflowing magnetism of the love-flame goes into God. So you see that there can be no separation of one quality from the other in God, because all three are connected in an interdependent way. And what is magnetism and electricity? Nothing other than the effect of the attracting and repelling will of God, with which the love and wisdom in God guide the world and set everything in motion. Magnetism and electricity are the Holy Spirit in God, full of power, might and glory.

All these interconnections are brought about by the life of God, which presents in Himself an infinite power, to which everything in the universe is subject. This power is everything everywhere, because in it lies the love and wisdom of God, like fire and light in the warmth of embers, and no-one may take the embers in his hands without instruments and with impunity in order not to get hurt. Therefore, no one may take hold of the Holy Trinity except in love and humility and approach it with prayer, for He is most holy in Himself and woe betide the wicked one who violates Him.

Everything you see and know is the work and the effect of the Holy Trinity, and there is nothing in infinity that does not originate from the Holy Trinity. Therefore, every person can understand that the Holy Trinity is the representation of the universe, and conversely, the universe embodies the Holy Trinity, for there is nothing in all of infinity that does not come from God. Thus, everything that exists again represents the divinity or the Trinity because everything is taken from God and lies within God, who encompasses it, because He, as the etheric spirit of the universe, surpasses all creation and enfolds it within Himself, much like the scent of an essence or oil that extends over and surrounds the matter.

This is how you should understand the Trinity in the Deity in order to know His essence thoroughly, otherwise you will never see and understand the Deity standing before you. For everything you see is taken from God and fashioned into various forms, colors, and effects. You always see God either as the Creator, the Created, or the Made, with the tools that the Spirit of God uses, which are called the soul and the body. These two are tools of God animated by the Spirit, through which He works materially. Everything that exists in the entire creation—what is seen, heard, and felt—is the effect of the same Spirit of God.

This is not the place where you can get a detailed explanation of this, because it would distract us too far from our subject, so read the other *Christian Theosophical Books* dictated by Me to Lorber and Mayerhofer - there you will be given light about the facts only mentioned here.

Now we come to the second task, namely to demonstrate how nonsensical your interpretation of the Holy Trinity was up till now, and how incorrect your concepts of the Godhead who rules the world, are.

Above all it is to be considered that I, as the freest being in the universe, cannot set any barriers and obstacles for Myself, nor tolerate them. How could you have gotten the idea that the Deity of Light would ever divide and separate into different qualities. That these qualities as separate persons would also have separate tasks and therefore separate wills? Would not the Godhead in Himself be disunited? Yes, certainly, because just two people are never quite in agreement, even less three - and when each of these persons has his independent opinion, he lets himself be convinced by the second or third person.

If we take a merchant's house with three companions, I ask you: "Are they always united in their business? I tell you, no!" Each has his own opinions, and often they contradict each other enormously. But if this is already the case with you with the innate slavish sense of submissiveness, how should this not be the case with the Deity who does not put up with the least restriction of His will? What world-shattering and world-destroying dispute would arise if each of the three persons were to assert their own will? I tell you: The worlds would be reduced to rubble because of the stubbornness of only one of these three persons - what if all three were in disagreement? I tell you a fact: when Adam and Eve broke the commandment of chastity and thereby became disobedient, Wisdom - in the inviolability and holiness of His pronounced commandment - placed Himself so high that He demanded that the whole human race originating from Adam should follow the same path of suffering and the cross as Jesus later did.

Here a division in God arose: Wisdom pronounced the judgment, Love did not want to accept it. But what is pronounced in God is never taken back without reason. Wisdom could not take back its judgement according to His unchangeable will, but Love would not agree, because He pitied the poor human race. They separated, and because it was dull and boring for Wisdom without His Love, He had to do for everyone what each one of them should have done for himself.\*

(\*He had to become human, fulfill the established law by suffering and death on the cross, and atone for the sin committed by the disobedience of Adam and Eve against the Divine commandment - transgressing against spiritual discipline and purity.)

In the Garden of Gethsemane, Wisdom shuddered at the terrible sufferings that He saw before Him in spirit and asked Love for leniency with the words: 'Father! Let this cup pass by Me if it is Your will, but not My will, but Your will be done.' Only the word, the judgment was spoken and Love did not act out of Himself, but said: "My son! Carry what is laid on you, and the Son carried and performed the

bloody sacrifice on Golgotha and had to humble Himself in the utmost humility before the Godhead, of which He Himself was a part.

From this it can be seen that in God there can be no twofold and threefold division, because in their holiness all must be one, therefore the Christ-Soul, which was taken from the wisdom of God, had to humble Himself completely and lay everything at the feet of Love and submit to it. But if this was indeed the case, how could you think that in God could exist three persons, each with a special function to fulfill? No! This is not possible, because if there were three persons in God with three different independent effects and activities, then God would not be a united God but would be divided and unstable in Himself, and I tell you: The world could not exist because of His thorough accuracy and serious order, because three persons, each of whom follows his opinion relentlessly, could not possibly imagine a Trinity. So they would destroy the world themselves.

We now come to the discussion of a second point: If there were a God in the universe who would divide Himself into three persons, then there would also have to be three worlds in order to grant each of these persons His own world with his own sphere of activity. The spirit alone is spread over the whole infinite world. So it would mean to banish Him back to a spot and restrict Him, so then God would not be an all free being, neither in Himself, nor represented everywhere; He could not carry the name God as He is everywhere, knows everything and does everything Himself, because each of these personalities would be a deity, but only for their space and with the activity in their capacity, so that in one space there would be all love, in the second all wisdom, in the third all forceful rule. What a chaos of inaccuracies would such a world have!

But as God does not put up with any restriction of His freedom, and He Himself takes up the whole infinite space, so ask yourself: Where then would one still get a second and third infinite space so that none of the three most free persons could complain that it is restricted or narrowed down in any way?

Furthermore, each of these persons would demand an unlimited freedom for Himself in his capacity and effect; but if each of them had an unlimited freedom for Himself, how would these three persons be able to agree within themselves not to lose any of their freedom? How would an agreement be reached if these persons did not tolerate any restrictions?

Furthermore, the question arises: Which of these three persons would have precedence if it were a matter of yielding, in favor of the dear Holy Trinity; because one of these persons would have to be right, and the other two would have to yield. But then, the Godhead would lose its divine freedom within itself and would rule over two-thirds of the remaining Godhead, so that God Himself would have no freedom within Himself; otherwise, the statement: "Where the

Spirit of God is, there is freedom" (2 Corinthians 3:17) in the New Testament would be a lie.

But let us suppose that a rift develops between the three persons and that none of them gives way! Then what? What would become of the Godhead, what of your creation? The Father would give no love, the Son would give no wisdom, and the Holy Spirit would pout with both and not want to serve you. Everything would suddenly darken and go into unspeakable confusion and destroy each other.

Behold! This is how it would be, according to Divine supreme freedom, inflexibility, diamond-hard willpower and unlimited desire for power in everything. Yes, three persons, three different heads, and each with such a quality, how could a Deity then exist, since these qualities actually exist in God. But the Godhead is not triple and not tri-personal, but only one Primordial Being, from Whose basis three qualities emerge. All these three qualities are in themselves one, as I proved to you through the comparison with flame, light and heat, where the reason is fire, and this fire emits light and gives heat, but as soon as the fire extinguishes, also the light and the heat disappear. It is the same in God: Love is a fire from which flows light of wisdom and warmth of life; therefore, in this fire is contained everything that exists visibly or invisibly or materially and spiritually in the infinite space of Divine all-being. This is therefore the Holy Trinity of God in the universe.

Love wants to create, Wisdom imagines the forms and willpower puts into action, brings it into reality.

\*\*\*

So man also consists of the Divine Trinity! Paul wrote to the Corinthians and Romans: (I Cor 6:17; 6:19; II Cor 6:16; Rom 8:11) Do you not know that you (in body, spiritually and materially) (John 2:21) are a temple of God and the Spirit of God dwells in you? Do you not know that your body is a temple of the indwelling Holy Spirit, whom you have received from God? The same Spirit of God who raised the body of Jesus from death dwells in you, therefore you are a temple of the living God, as God says: 'In them will I dwell and walk among them, for I am their God and they are My children, a Divine people.'

Here, it is spoken of that the human spirit is the Spirit of God, that it is the Holy Spirit of God, the living God, who raised the fleshly body of Jesus from the dead. But if this is so, then this spirit of man is none other than Christ, God incarnate; marvelous in His creation, the counsel or wisdom of Divine love, the power of the Holy Spirit, a hero of Divine virtues and attributes, the Father from eternity and a Prince of spiritual peace in the heart. Thus, the Spirit of Jesus Christ, Jehovah Zebaoth, from eternity itself, is the God within (Isaiah 9:6; Micah 5:2).

(Jesus means Savior, Helper, Redeemer in Hebrew. In this name lies the fundamental meaning that one can be a material and spiritual Savior, Helper, or Redeemer both from distress and from illness. Once I said to Moses (Exodus 15:26): Jehovah Rapha, which means: "I am the Lord who heals you"; and now I am called Jesus as "Savior" or "Doctor," as I have indeed been, am, and will forever be - a healer of body and soul. - However, the fact gives the designation its essential meaning, therefore compare the passages in the New Testament where I am referred to as Savior, Luke 2:11; - Israel's Savior: Luke 2:30; - World Savior: John 4:42; - Savior: Acts 5:31; - Body Savior: Ephesians 5:23 - Savior: Philippians 3:20. - Savior of all people, especially of the believers, 1 Timothy 4:10. - Savior, who has taken away the power of death and brought life and immortality to light through the Gospel; 2 Timothy 1:10; - Savior (or Redeemer) of the world, 1 John 4:14. - Savior comes from the word for salvation, and as Jehovah, I am indeed the World Savior or World Doctor of both physical and spiritual illnesses, and the very same one who referred to Himself as "Doctor" to Moses. Salvation and Savior linguistically relate\* to each other like music and musician, trainee and practitioner, supplier and deliverer, and thus "Salus" and "Fortuna" come from salvation and to heal means "to make healthy." San -are; - Salvation "Sanus.")

\* Translator's note: his linguistic comparison and play with words works in the German use of these related words, not in English. This is the German: Heil-and und Heil-er verhalten sich sprachlich wie Musik-ant und Musik-er, Praktik-ant und Praktik-er, Liefer-ant und Liefer-er und so kommt von Heil "Salus" und "Fortuna" auch heil- en "gesund machen". San -are; - Heil "Sanus".

So every man carries his God in his living temple, whose high priest "Melchizedek" is to be the soul, as the eternal sacrificial priest of their material desires, lusts and passions, in order to purify and sanctify the material body to become a holy temple of God.

When man endeavours to sanctify his body, then I also give an additional spirit of love out of Me, to strengthen the much troubled spirit of man, and through this, the spirit of man awakens completely and calls to Me, the All-Spirit, from which he himself comes: 'Abba! Dear Father Jesus' - and awakens the soul to praise Me in the All-Spirit. (Rom 8:15; Gal 4:6)

Look, children! This living temple, which is your body, is the only and true dwelling of My Self, of My Trinity, and no other built church. I have clearly stated that every material sacrifice is an abomination to Me (Ps 40:1; Ps 51:17,19; Jer 7:22; Hosea 4:1; Deu 10:17,18; Matt 23:14; Luke 20:47; read Isaiah chapter 66; and Proverbs 15:8; 21:27; Isaiah 1:13) but the priests say that one should sacrifice to God, whereas God as Spirit (The word spirit was originally *Gisti* from the original German root *Gi*, which means *power* and *strength*; *s* is genitive connection; *ti* is the substantiation suffix, from which *gi-s-ti*, Kräft-er, Stärk-er. The English word gost has the root *gu*, which means to send out, to put into

action; but both roots gi and gu have long since died out. - The name 'ghost' for deceased means shadow creature, "Schattner" from the original German gis for shadow and ti as a substantiation suffix, - English gus had the same meaning as gis, thus gusti "Schattner") neither eats nor drinks what people sacrifice to the churches in money and materials. Peter said: "Sanctify God in your hearts." (1 Peter 3:15) For God is a Spirit, and those who want to worship Him must worship Him in spirit of their loving hearts to Him and in truth through acts of love towards the poor and those in need. (John 4:24; 1 Corinthians 13:1-13; Matthew 25:31-46)

I said to the apostles and disciples, as My true servants of God: You have received it for free, you should again give it for free! (Matt 10:8) But the one who did not go to the spiritual school with Me, but to the worldly seminaries, of course cannot give for free. But he is also not a servant chosen by Me, according to My Divine order, as I trained My servants Myself at all times and I Myself set them up as leaders of My children.

#### **APPENDIX**

# The Inner Word of the Contemporary Divine Mediums

Dictated on June 13, 1901 - Acts 2:17,18

There is a great antipathy towards the true spiritual life at the present time, and even those who hold firmly to the Bible and the church-teachings are resolute opponents of the view that I as God deal with ordinary people and that there is a better and purer teaching than that taught by the priests.

In the Old Testament I interacted with various people from Adam until My incarnation. It is not only prophets, judges and the kings David and Solomon with whom I spoke, but I interacted with the greatest variety of people, of whom there were hundreds of thousands, but always through the body of an angel who was My name-bearer, because I had no visible, human-personal body before My incarnation in Jesus. To experience all this one has to study with love and humility My guidance of men in all works originating from Me, then one will find out the truth, - but when one overlooks everything except the prophets, then of course one cannot come out of darkness.

I ask you: What were the names of the prophets who were sent to preach to the Hanochites in Noah's time for 120 years? Of course you think it was Noah who did this. Oh no, you are very much mistaken, it was other people instead of Noah. Yes, moral preachers had been sent there since the 10th century, for things went back and forth between evil and good until finally the punishment came. If people would rather read My Father's words and learn from them, instead of calling Me, God and Creator, in Jesus, a heretic in My Christian-theosophical books, and thereby crucify Me in My paternal loving words because they cannot have Me personally, as the Pharisees once did, to mistreat Me according to the paragraphs of the state law - then surely their salvation would be different, and I, as a loving Father, would relate to My children as I did with the prophets and apostles. But since they serve the world, they belong to the world and not to Me; but no-one can serve two masters - God and Satan - at the same time.

Some people also find the language of the dictations offensive. But I say that one should not be offended by it because I also should not be offended by human stupidity, spiritual darkness and bold presumption against Me, but only consider such people as lost sheep of My Father's stable, who declare and consider the voice of their spiritual Shepherd Jesus to be that of a swindler, cheater, heretic, false prophet and blasphemer. - The medium can only grasp and bring out the inner word to such a degree that his spiritual progress has matured through schooling and heart-formation. Therefore I tell you, you intellectuals: As a loving father prefers the babbling of his youngest child to the lofty scholarly chatter of

his eldest son, so it is also the case with Me: I take care of the child who is underage but humble and loves Me; but I let the scholar and the proud go their wrong ways and rage against Me in their better knowledge, just as I allow anyone who criticizes My Father's words in the writings of *Christian Theosophy*.

They say God only deals with prophets and apostles?! Oh you ignorant and underage in the spiritual world! Were Anna and Simeon prophets when I was circumcised in the temple? Were the four daughters of Philip the Evangelist prophets?

What today is called the inner word was once called the prophetic word, and Paul said to strive above all to prophesy. (1 Cor 14) So all and not only the apostles and prophets - that means from My side: ALL are to live and act in such a way that I, Jesus, as your Father, can speak with you as My children, and indeed with all, through the inner word and guide you. That I can now only communicate with very few people through the inner word is due to the wrong way of life, the wisdom of the mind, and the inclination to worldly pleasures and to mammon. I communicated with many a church writer (Acts 2:16,20) and yet they were neither prophets nor apostles, but humble people who fulfilled My laws of love. So you see that people judge about Me and My actions among the children as the blind judge colors.

Read what I made a note of through the prophet Joel (1 Cor 1:19) for the present time of My return to earth, and see what is written there; everything has already come to pass - and vet people still wait like the five worldly-minded virgins for the bridegroom, while He is already there and has entered into places where there was enough love oil in the hearts of those who love Him and are humble children. People are waiting for blood, fire, and columns of smoke in the sky as signs of My coming. Blood in heaven is love for God and man in a loving heart; blood on earth is human oppression and exploitation; fire in heaven is fiery zeal for the spiritual and divine of My children; fire on earth is zeal for Mammon worship and its black plans and instigations. Columns of smoke in the heavens are loving, humble, and fervently felt prayers to Me in the hearts (as heaven) of My children for the salvation of the world from Satan's claws, in which it is now entirely caught; and columns of smoke on earth are the cries of pain of My oppressed children, who form the milking cow of the world. These two columns of smoke call to Me for compassion and mercy, for the change of world conditions, because the sun, as love for God, has darkened and is as if extinct, and the moon, as love for the neighbor, has turned into blood—that is, into bloody human oppression and exploitation. Behold, this is how one reads the Holy Scripture spiritually.

You are therefore to humbly and out of love for Me search for truth there where I Myself point out to you, and stay away from all intellectual criticism; because this is exactly that what brings you into spiritual darkness - into hell. You are not to

criticize what you do not understand, but ask for spiritual enlightenment. I clearly testified: I will destroy the wisdom of the wise and put to shame the prudence of the clever; (Isaiah 29:14, 1 Corinthians 1:19) and in another place (Matthew 18:3) I said: If you do not become loving and humbly faithful like children, you will not enter the kingdom of heaven. But if this is fully true, how will one go to heaven, if one judges My Father's words and, by calling My Christian theosophical teaching heresy, also calls Me, the Author, a heretic? I ask you: how then will one come to Me, whom one calls a heretic?

I consider worldly wisdom to be Satan. Do you believe that I will allow Satan, whom one harbors in critical reason, into heaven?! Oh no! On the contrary, I say to you: unless one abandons worldly wisdom down to the last atom in opposition to My Father's words, one will not come to Me! This shall be your guideline from your Father in Jesus. Amen!

# The prophecy about the return of Christ and its spiritual correspondence

Dictation on June 10, 1901

When I spoke before Caiaphas the meaningful words announcing My return to earth, I said: "From now on it will happen that you will see the Son of Man sitting at the right hand of the power of God, and on the clouds of heaven, accompanied by all the angels; then I will sit on the throne of My glory. (Matt 26:64; 25:31)

These words are now coming true. I then spoke in the spirit of My Divinity, therefore men do not understand the basic meaning of this prophecy and so listen to what it means according to your language:

To sit at the right hand of the power of God means that I, as Judge of the world, will speak the justice in the power of God - which means the natural, elemental, and worldly events, and in my love-wisdom, will carry out comfort for the good and terror for the evil.

The clouds of heaven are the teachings of love from My heaven, printed in the Christian Theosophical books and dictated by Me Myself, in which I speak as if from clouds, which mean the veiling of My spiritual Person, and teach My children Myself. So is *The Holy Trinity* such a cloud of light from which I speak and reveal the spiritual darkness of your false concepts of faith with Divine wisdom-power and make it clear to you. - On the other hand the clouds of heaven are also My children, through whom I give My love-teachings, as well as those who strive to bring them to fulfillment through living and acting accordingly. These children are indeed material shells of My Love-Spirit that lives in them as a human spirit, because the works of love for God and neighbor are worked through them; because he who teaches My pure spiritual teaching of love and also follows it himself, he is a cloud or a cover of My spirit through which I actually speak and work spiritual works of love.

I have come through this [the clouds] in the company of My angels, because many high spirits from My new Jerusalem, come as spiritual love-messengers from the love-heaven - as once Elijah reincarnated as John the Baptist - live on earth and strive to fulfill and spread My love-teaching. With some of these I communicate through the inner word, like once with the apostles (Gal 1:11,12; 2 Peter 1:19),

because they are called to cooperate as My messengers of love so that finally a flock and a Shepherd may be established.

And when all men accept My spiritually pure doctrine of love and thus become a united community of believers: then I will sit on the throne of My glory, which are My children, that is, then I will transfer My new heavenly Jerusalem to the earth and dwell among My children, thus making heaven and earth into a paradise of spiritual communion and reigning therein forever as spiritual King.

### My Dear Children!

Dictation July 29, 1901

Since the first edition of the *Prayer Book*, various voices have been raised, disagreeing with it; others criticize its contents and, according to their views, do not want this and that in it. Others again find other things that they consider good to criticize.

It would indeed be easy for everyone if I, as God, were also a weakling, as humans are; but I am God and not a deluded human full of selfish, weak views and opinions. Yes, it is the saddest thing about your sadness that you have come to the point where you consider the voice of your Father, who speaks so beautifully and clearly in this prayer book, to be that of a spirit! - So low have you sunk through your selfish wisdom.

You reject, depending on how your wisdom has developed, partly Lorber, partly Mayerhofer, and partly one or the other of My instruments, through whom I gave My words of love. There are only a few who are afflicted with this wisdom, but these few sow weeds among My wheat, and spoil and corrupt the hearts of My children, which is decidedly against My will.

I now have to clarify My point of view to you and openly say: I issue such books as I find good according to My love and wisdom, which represent the truth in Me; but not according to the separatist views of individual men. But when you criticize this and that and do not acknowledge it as coming from Me, then I do not force you to acknowledge this. But then the statement is proved true: "Be perfect as your Father in heaven is perfect" - not! And so it will have its twisted ways with your rebirth of the spirit because your faith, your actions and striving is also your judge. As long as you are not all of one mind and spirit, believing, humble, and loving towards one another like children, you are not ready for a flock of My Fatherly love that is to embrace all children.

I now have to especially recommend to you that you neither criticize nor reject the publications that I give you through My servants, for one among them is the one who will be My representative at My return, about whom Jeremiah received the following prophecy 593 years before My incarnation: "In those days, and at that time, I will raise out of David a true offspring; and he shall execute justice and righteousness in the land. In those days salvation will come to the good ("Judah") and the people of the world (called "Jerusalem" in spiritual analogy) will dwell in peace. And this is the name by which it will be called: "Jehovah, our righteousness" (compare the Last Judgement, below). For thus says Jehovah: "David shall not lack a man to sit on the throne of the house of Israel" (Jeremiah 33:15-17).

He is the angel from the rising of the sun (or from divine mercy), of whom the Revelation of John (7:2-3) speaks, as the sealer of the servants of God, the 144,000 sealed from all twelve tribes of the children of Israel.

In My first year of teaching, I spoke the following words to those around Me: "When a thousand and not quite a thousand years will have passed from now, and My teaching will be buried completely in the dirtiest matter, then I will raise up men again in that time, who will write down exactly what was discussed and happened here from above to you and Me, and will hand it over to the world in a great book (*Gospel of Jesus Christ*, dictated by the Father Jesus through Jakob Lorber), and thereby hand it over to the world ... in many different ways." ... One of those to whom most things will be revealed, more so than all of you, will be descended in the true male line from Joseph's eldest son (Joel), and will therefore also be a true physical descendant of David; he will be, like David, weak in the flesh, but all the stronger in spirit. Blessed are those who hear him and will arrange their lives accordingly.

But the other great awakened ones will mostly descend from David. For such things can only be given to those who even come from there in the flesh, from where I also come, namely from Mary, the mother of this My body, since Mary is also a completely pure daughter of David. In that time, these descendants of David will mostly reside in Europe, but they will still be pure and genuine descendants of the man after the heart of God and capable of bearing the greatest brightness from the heavens. They will certainly never attain an earthly throne, but they will all the more await My kingdom and I will remember My brothers forever. (Gospel of Jesus Christ IV, Chapter 112).

So, dear children, I have lifted the veil for you, so that you do not treat Me with contempt in My chosen ones, through whom I speak to you and through whom I give you teachings and books, reject the books, and label them with the names of dark spirits.

But I have appointed that one as the first to you, so follow what he says, because through him I will guide the brothers materially and determine the spiritual food, which is to apply to all; because he is determined to gather on My behalf the world into a flock whose Shepherd and King of the spiritual life, I Myself will be. Amen.

## Jesus as Prayer

Dictation July 30, 1901

It is said in various places in my Gospel, given through Lorber, that I prayed to God and that I prepared myself through prayer. And again it is often said that one should not pray with lips alone; and that I, in prayer, through deep contemplation of God, united with God, so that it was as if I had not prayed, but only thought of God in love.

If I, as a sinless man, as God in human form, had not prayed with words, then that would have made sense, for then I would have worshipped Myself as God. But I was indeed a man like you in human form, as my childhood story teaches you. Read chapters 298 and 299! [Childhood of Jesus, Jakob Lorber] For there you will find that I not only prayed but even fasted. I actually prayed with words spoken in love to the Father. I spoke them in my heart, which is true, because they can be better expressed than with the lips. But in the family circle, where there are still young children, one must pray aloud, because otherwise the children do not pray and do not think of prayer, but of eating and playing. Dear children, if I spent three hours daily in prayer and silent contemplation of God, why do you not spend a quarter of an hour in prayer, and invent all kinds of excuses to avoid it? But your cleverness is an abomination to Me, and as I said, I will bring the wisdom of the wise to shame. It may happen to you that you will not come to the rebirth of the spirit for a long time, and that will be a shame for your cleverness. For man humbles himself through prayer before Me and sees Me for what I am: the inaccessible, most holy God, whom they seek to move, through love of the heart and humble prayer to the Father, to meet Him lovingly.

I also have to express Myself about the resolute attitude against the prayer of the rosary, which many of you are not happy with, that it appears in the Prayer Book. If you, instead of rebelling against Me with: "We do not want this and we do not recognize this", you would rather come to Me with a humble heart and would like to ask Me for enlightenment as to what I meant with the rosary prayer, then I would lead you to reflections, and you would recognize that the rosary is not a prayer but a praise of God in threefold life stories as Iesus is. Are you really already so high that praise unto God no longer suits you? Did I not teach you that everything you do for the glory of God, is for your own benefit? (Compare *Prayer* Book no. 116.) Yes, children, not what suits you is pleasing and right to Me, but what I prescribe to you is according to My view. Think that until you are born again, you are the children of Satan (My dear children, you are not to be offended by this designation because I otherwise always address you as My children or dear children; because these are only My lures to you that you feel to be children of God and therefore want to live and act as I teach you, so that you actually become children of God out of Satan's children), because you sin daily. Only a reborn person is a child of God, because he walks before me without sin. So do

not be wise and clever against me! For this already brings misfortune upon you, that you will not progress until you suppress all your wisdom and cleverness down to the last atom and humbly submit to my will. I still want to make a flock of divine children out of you; but if you take a stand against My teachings and do not want to acknowledge this and that, how can I then place you in My flock of children of love, humility, tolerance and peacefulness? I do not want to turn heaven into a quarrelsome hell! You should consider this and educate yourselves; for as long as you quarrel over differences of opinion, you do not belong to one flock, but to two and more.

Let Me tell you this! Abandon religious hatred: This is Roman; this is Lutheran, etc., it does not suit us, we do not acknowledge it! In the guidance of Dr. Martin Luther in the hereafter, you will find how I then, because of the hatred of religion, deliberately brought those who hate and persecute each other into a society, in order to humble them. Be perfect, as your Father in heaven is perfect, but this does not mean: Argue competitively about who is right!

Because only I can be right because I am the Truth, but you as men are all liars because of your wisdom, which represents Satan in man, since you are servants of the prince of lies for as long as you do not subordinate your will to My will. This then as an answer to your disagreement - as you are to believe that I as Author of the book, only want for all of you that what leads you to Me, and that I therefore only give you such teachings as I as God find good. Amen!

# Words of the Heavenly Father to His children

Received from the Lord on July 15-18, 1901

It is the task of man to pursue what brings him to God, his Father, with joy and interest, and to apply the results of his research for his spiritual well-being, so that the goal of life is achieved and man has not lived in vain on earth.

"Many are called, but few are chosen." This saying is very clearly evident among My children; for there are hundreds of millions of the called, but only a very small circle has truly been active so far in order to attain the crown of life, the rebirth of the spirit.

It is now very clear to you what the rebirth of the spirit means from the enlightenments which I gave you here. These gifts are the reconnection of the children with the Father, it is the childhood of God on earth and in the spirit-kingdom, it is these that make you into gods under the rule of your Father, as God of the universe.

The time of the rule of Satan in the world is coming to an end, and My chosen ones joyfully await the hour that will make them children of God on Earth and send them into the world among all peoples of the Earth as preachers of the truth of divine love.

The banner of love stands powerfully, for I Myself am the center of it as God and Father, who is pure eternal Love, and this banner stands ready to unfold and carry My love among the children of the world to convince them that there is one God, who - exalted above all concepts of humanity - only have the welfare and happiness of His children in mind, and therefore desires nothing more than that His children would recognize Him, what and how He is, and that they would want to convert and return to spiritual life.

With love and kindness I come to you; therefore, receive My offered hand with love and joy and walk in the footsteps of My virtues (read them in *The Christian Theosophical Prayer Book*), which transform you into children of God and therefore into gods.

Live according to My commandments, which I gave to Moses on Mount Sinai, and as Jesus summarized them into two commandments of love: Love God above all else, and your neighbor as yourself. In these two commandments of love are Moses and the prophets, that is, in them I Myself am contained; for I gave them as God to My children, in order to develop them into gods of love.

My children must become highly educated, so that all the wisdom of the wise and learned of the world - as darkness of the worldly spirit of research - will collapse before them into their nothingness.

I am God, therefore My children must become gods and exalted above all human concepts. They will stand powerfully as children of My love in the world and nobody will be able to master their wisdom.

I am making everything new. Therefore, prepare yourselves for changes that will cast your current wisdom and knowledge into shadows and decay.

Nothing of the traditional will remain valid; because it is I Myself, the intelligence and the spirit of research, Who promoted mankind to make one invention and discovery after another, and not remain silent about it, but did not give Me the due thanks, neither in his heart nor publicly, but let himself be honoured and praised as genius and spirit of invention and sublimity over other men.

Therefore, I will destroy all the wisdom of the wise by making a completely new science, based on Divinely perfect knowledge and ability, available equally to all people - without contemporary research - and thus the arrogance of the wise and learned of the world will be eradicated, because all will be formed by God and equally elevated to gods of love, wisdom, and power.

And the wisdom of the wise will be brought to shame; for I will make all men equal, and no one will be the servant or provider of another according to the current order of the world, which has bred a kingdom of hellish devils from among My children.

Pride and selfishness are the kings (see above) of the world today. Everyone lives only for himself, everyone knows only himself; the neighbor is [only] dear to him if he can profit from him or even cheat him, oppress him spiritually and materially and live at his expense without worries and work.

Who cannot understand this that such a suppression and exploitation of the spiritual and material powers of My children, who are subordinated by force, causes sorrow to Me as an equally loving spiritual Father of all men of the world and I watch these hellish states of the earth with sorrow.

The saying goes: "The jug goes to the well until it breaks", so it is also with My Divine patience.

Do justice and righteousness to the oppressed and the previously mistreated, so that you will also find justice in love in My eyes; for with the measure you use, it will be measured to you by Me.

Love is to be the motto of your actions, so that you will reap love as the reward for your deeds.

Do not laugh at My words! For God's words have a rod of punishment in their wake when they are not observed.

Look in your newspapers, which daily report all kinds of natural and elemental events and historical pointers with which I warn people and call out to them: You are not safe for a single hour of your life or your goods, for everything lies in My almighty hand, which can destroy the one as well as the other.

The world has become blind and deaf and godless in everything. But woe betide you if you continue to do so! The natural, elemental and historical events and misfortunes will multiply and become stronger. Either you convert, or hell is open to you as your future home, ready to receive you.

You believe it has always been the same: there have always been natural, elemental, and historical world events, therefore one cannot consider them as punishment from God, but as an eternal recurrence of the same.

Wait and see! Soon, soon I will come to you with news that will preach aloud to you: There's never been anything like this in the world. But then woe betide those who will feel My rod of discipline.

Heaven and hell will approach to announce My coming and woe to the people who have scorned and despised My voice of love. They will look around to see where they can go to avoid being reached by My rod of discipline.

Why not follow and believe when I am already active on all sides!? Or do you believe that the events in nature, the elements, the world, politics, the search for changes in the church and in state life do not come from Me? Those who believe that are much to be pitied; for if I am the whole universe spiritually and materially, how can anything happen without My knowledge and permission?

Everything you see is Me, but it must be well distinguished that the earth is the nest of Satan, and as it now exists, it is the hell of the second degree; for woe betide the people if they did not fear temporal and eternal punishments! It would be out of wickedness, pride, hatred, envy, boundless selfishness, and greed, to hoard everything and let the exploited and plundered die loveless and perish, no existence, no life, and no end!

Even now, while there are still state and church threats of punishment, there are tigers, wolves, and hyenas in human form, and dragons and serpents in great numbers, if only you could see the inner spiritual nature of people as I and My angels and children see it.

The false doctrine of the transmigration of souls teaches that when people die, they are transformed into different animals. This teaching is not a teaching of the transmigration of souls, but it does have something true about it, and that is that after their bodily death, the evil people change into those animals whose passions they indulged in in the flesh, and therefore you often see in dreams very evil horses, dogs and other animals that pursue you and frighten you, and you see that these are not fantasies but prophetic dreams, of which you will convince yourselves soon enough, because the same fate awaits you if you will not soon leave your animalistic nature and passions and enter into the life of the Spirit of Love.

It would certainly be beautiful on earth when men would want to act as children of love among themselves. There would be nobody suffering shortage, all would be provided for like the children of wealthy parents, and I would bless the earth so that it would be able to carry three times, five times and seven times more of you than now.

Prosperity would exist among you; misfortunes, famine years, thunderstorms, storms, hail, cloudbursts, floods and all what causes men sorrows and woe, would no longer occur and you would be protected from all trouble and misery, when you would obey My commandments.

I have let you create very good inventions in all fields of life to increase the general prosperity, to help the poor, so that they would not become slaves with overly strenuous work. But who is helped by My love, which I let come into effect for you? The inventors and the rich take possession of every invention in order to accumulate a greater fortune and make the poor, the proletarians and workers even poorer, even more enslaved by capitalist pressure!

I did not let you invent so many machines so that only the rich would become even richer and the poor even poorer, but that it would benefit everyone and every man would be provided for. And what is the consequence of My love and mercy? Nothing else but that the poor man must work and toil even harder in order to alleviate the pressure which the inventions put on him in order to not starve daily; while the inventions of machines, especially agricultural ones, were given to you in order to liberate the peasant and worker from the slavery of labour and to give him a dignified existence.

I have not put man on earth only to wither away materially and spiritually in work, but to work only as much as is necessary for the health of the body and necessary to counteract laziness. He should live the rest of his life in contemplation of the spiritual goal of his future, strengthen his virtues and be a support in the circle of brothers and sisters who surround and love him.

No-one is born to lounge around and no-one is born to work for others to the point of exhaustion, in order to earn enough that his dear children and wife do not go hungry beyond the limits of what is bearable - which often happens, while the rich do not know how to spend their money and mismanage it, in order to be able to hurl the surplus into the abyss of other like-minded devils of selfishness and hellish life.

Consider, you great and rich, that I have decided to remove your Satan, who is called money, completely from the world, to remove all its value and to keep it only as a historical memory from the time of Satan's reign - in the museums of the people, only to know what Satan looked like, with whom the world became the purest hell and men became the purest devils in it, - and all this according to this Satan, to whom everything - even God and heaven and paradise - was bought and is still offered by the deceivers of the people.

The later arrivals on earth will be amazed as to how it could be possible that these unsightly toys have brought such a tremendous woe upon the poor people and made hell full of devils.

For truly, I your God and Father in Jesus tell you: Spiritually, people do not look human, but they are nasty, devilish, animalistic, malicious, and horrible to look at - not only the rich, but also the poor, because they imitate the morals and hellish vices and characteristics of the rich, educated, learned, and great, and do the same as them wherever they can.

I will open your spiritual eyes and ears at the right time, so that you may see your departed loved ones, who were cheated out of their salvation for the sake of money - and speak with them personally, so that you may recognize your world, to which you fanatically cling, while you reject every light from Me, your God from heaven, as heretical or Lutheran. Then you will be wide-eyed and curse the swindlers and deceivers in whose nets you are completely entangled.

Fear and anxiety will creep over you at the sight of your loved ones, for whose sake you threw away large sums of money to put on a grand funeral display for the gawking world, while you let the poor and needy go hungry, who do not have the shamelessness, audacity, and opportunity to beg publicly.

You should be ashamed that you let your own brothers and sisters, who are the children of the same Father as you, who are also spiritually and carnally of the same solidified matter of Satana, your spiritual primordial mother - from whose soul you descend after the soul and the flesh, go hungry and generally regard them as the providers of your good life. Would you like it if I suddenly made you the providers for the poor and sent you to work in the fields from morning till 7 o'clock in the evening? You would make very sour faces to such well-deserved justice!

Why are you doing what would not suit you? Does not My Divine teaching command you: "Do not do to your neighbor what you do not want done to you"? So why do you act against My will!? Do you believe that My commandments are invented by men and therefore can be rejected by men? You're very much mistaken. Up till now, you have hidden your devilish being from the world, and only in the spirit kingdom will the veil be lifted from you. But this grace alone will soon pass away and you will be laid bare before the born-again, and as spirits, reveal your hellish abomination to the world.

Your money will not help you, you could starve by the millions if you do not fulfill the rest of your duties; for a time will come where there will be no more buying and selling; for each community will produce everything it needs and thus all trade and commerce according to the current world order will cease. And where there is still a need for foreign fruits and products, it will be done through barter as in ancient times; for I will no longer see your round pocket demon. If money had not been invented, the world would not have become hellish, so the round Satan, who has raised and formed all the hell on earth, will disappear from the world, where he now causes such unspeakable woe and suffering.

The earth is My property. I have created it and have given it equally to all My children for the benefit of all; therefore one day all rights of private property will disappear from the world and all private property will become community property.

You rich and powerful, you churches and monasteries, diligently accumulate only the round Satan and private property! A time will come, and it is near, for I am already at work, where all your wealth of money, houses, factories, land, and other commercial enterprises will pass into the ownership of the respective communities.

Therefore, while there is still time, you should buy grace and forgiveness for your heinous sins and injustices by distributing your abundance to the poor and needy; because when time has passed, everything is over, and you will be without any merit for your spiritual life, and therefore ripe for hell, which is so diligently collected and piled up at the expense of the working class.

It would be easy for you to eliminate the boundless misery from the world if you would only distribute the surplus of your wealth and land ownership to the needy. Millions of thanksgiving prayers would then be sent up to Me for you and I would write your sins in the sand as once that of the adulteress. Because I do not punish the criminal, as the earthly judges do, even if he improves, recognizes the injustice and tries to make it good, no! I am love and as such doing good is already enough for Me and I forget evil when in good deeds, insight works through love; because love erases all sins in My sight. But this love must be rooted in Me and, thru love for Me, be put into action toward one's neighbor; then it is perfect, as I require it to be practiced.

Private property is before Me, the Creator of the Earth, who alone am the Lord over it, a robbery of the poor and the hungry, who have so little, while you possess so much.

It would still be possible to exist if you would only let so much of what you take in annually as surplus and pile up or waste in the sins of the world come to the poor and needy; but alas, with very few exceptions, you are all selfish devils and not human beings.

You will be astonished and stop to think that I call you devils. Now, that is quite logical and linguistically correct, and therefore I want to clarify the name Devil etymologically for you. Once, the devil was called dia-balus, which means "evil god" or Satan from dia "god" and balus "evil," of which the Greek dia-bolos still bears witness. If you now act anti-Christian toward your brothers and sisters, then you are evil, because you are the children of your Father, who is God, and have become evil, and are therefore "evil gods", or in the original language according to today's corruption of language: "devil", so also the same as Satan, because the name Sat-an also has the linguistic components which can be translated as "evil gnome".

So you see that your conduct is already according to the truly noble name according to your evil deeds; because whoever is a haughty and selfish man, is a devil in My sight and gets, when he leaves the temporal and enters the spirit realm, the form that corresponds to his devilish vices.

Behold, therefore, the usually stormy spiritualist sessions when such an earthly devil is present, because he attracts like-minded brothers "devils" burdened with the same sins and vices; for spiritually, like attracts like, because as the person is, so is their spiritual sphere, with which they reach into the spirit realm - and such beings then become their companions and advisors. Therefore, if he is a devil, he will also be accompanied and influenced everyplace by devils of the same kind as he is.

Beware of devils, therefore, by becoming good and noble in thoughts, words, and deeds; for if you think, speak, and act nobly and spiritually, angels will accompany you instead of devils, and you will always feel an inner contentment, because the soul sees its company and rejoices with it over all the good and noble things it sees or does itself.

Glorious is the entrance of a noble and highly spiritual thinking soul from earth into the spirit realm. Multitudes of high spirits await them to introduce them into their homes, where they live an overjoyed existence. But the entrance of a secularized soul is terrible to see when it leaves this world, which was so rosy for it, and arrives there where it is received by darkness and dark spirits! Therefore strive to become good; for I demand so little from you that you certainly cannot excuse yourselves that I demand more than what is possible for you to do!

It is My assignment to compel you to become happy but I only give you the means and it is My desire that you should do what you were put into the world for - to become happy, yes, overly happy. It is up to you to become either gods or devils; for you cannot serve two masters - God and Satan - at the same time; nor can I use the lukewarm, as I had already told the Laodiceans in the time of the apostles.

Make haste to fulfill My desire so that I have no cause to appear and act as judge against you; for whoever will not strive for conversion and improvement, will be subject to the judgment that is allowed by Me over the world, to separate the wheat from the chaff and to gather it into My barn.

You have accustomed yourselves to regard nothing as a punishment from God, but merely as natural, elemental, or world events; well, you will see how I will come to you to shake you out of your worldly sleep of sin! It is a fact - for He who speaks is omnipotent - that the end of the hellish states in the world is approaching and woe to those who have recognized My admonishing voice but do not want to recognize or accept it. They will be very roughly shaken out of their sleep.

Equally also those who have silently tolerated all transgressions of My commandments, whether spiritually or materially murder was committed, although I have clearly said in the fifth commandment: Thou shalt not kill! Yes, but what should the priests, who have appointed themselves guardians of God's commandments, say, when they are the first to stand under this law; for whoever kills spiritually, kills incomparably more grossly than he who kills carnally. And behold, the priests have made you spiritually killed church slaves through ceremonies, false religious teachings and concealment of the truth.

I have already given enlightenment about the Holy Trinity to Bishop Augustine, whom the Roman Church calls "St. Augustine"; only, the Church had already departed from the truth to such an extent at that time, that the Pope forbade bringing the truth into the open. For a while it was kept secret by the scholars, but when these had also become papal-worldly, the truth was lost entirely and the lie triumphed until today.

But now the time has come that I will reveal all insidiousness and deceit of the priests so that you will realize that you are in a dark paganism of ceremonies that are an abomination in My sight.

The Bible Christians are indeed much better off than the Roman ones, but they again have other errors, which do diminish the good very much, which you will also still encounter; for I must make everything clear to you, so that you all finally see where you are still walking in the dark.

The same light of Divine truth must rise everywhere, before which all darkness will disappear. The sooner you will get away from church teachings and priests, the sooner light will shine upon the Babylon of the priestly economy.

You are - in none of the present churches and sects calling themselves Christian - on the divine ground of truth, but you are walking in the labyrinth or confusion of religious views of the priests, who themselves have no light. For I grant no one the Divine light of truth, who does not strive for this light and does not ask for it with a humble heart.

It is also no longer the time that I would like to tolerate the priestly economy any longer; for otherwise, My words of a flock and a shepherd would never come to fulfillment, because the priests, as human beings, are greedy for possessions, honor, and power, and therefore always want a foolish and gullible flock after their own hearts, at whose expense they want and can live splendidly without work.

Now I, the sole shepherd of My flock, am here, and I want to educate you all equally in the spiritual realm through My books, so that no discord prevails in the spiritual. Read no other books than those which I have dictated or will yet dictate, and those which are designated as "pure" by My trusted scribes, so that you do not mix lies with the truth and fall into new contradictions.

Those who do not yet have an "inner word" should be guided by the chosen ones, so that all may become of one mind and heart in matters of faith. For the field of the doctrine of faith is vast, and thus you could very easily be led astray by one-sided and shallow knowledge.

Do not listen to such preachers of faith who do not preach according to My pure Theosophical teaching, that you will not be deceived; for Satan lurks like a tiger, waiting for your weaknesses and ignorance, to mix the wheat with tares and thus sow discord and strife among you.

Flee from every ceremony which the religious-spiritual wants to demonstrate by visible actions; for I am a spirit, and whoever wants to worship Me must worship Me inwardly in the spirit of his love of the heart! Therefore, I said: If you want to pray, go into your quiet chamber, which means your heart, and pray to Me there; but if you want to worship Me in truth, then your love for Me has to be active in works of neighborly love, about which the *Christian-Theosophical Prayer Book* and the appendix to *Dr. M. Luther* give you information, and about which I speak in different places of My Fatherly *Bietigheim* books.

If you strictly follow My dictates, then no misunderstanding will prevail in the spiritual. But let this be said to you by your Father Jesus: Be humble of heart when reading My books, for otherwise you will soon fall into disputes - because the comprehension of the one and the other is unequal. Do not be overly clever and wise as students, for otherwise the spirit of Satan will immediately take hold of you (more information about Satan can be found in the book "Christian Theosophy") and whisper false, loveless thoughts and views into your ears. Leave all unnecessary criticism aside. If something is missing that came in through the influx of the views of the writing medium, I will certainly weed it out at the right time, for that is My task; but yours is to prove through love and humility that you are My children, for that is what the saying means: Be perfect, as your Father in heaven is perfect. Because only through love, humility and keeping peace among yourselves, will you achieve this; but not through wisdom and cleverness of your intellect, because you can only obtain true wisdom and cleverness through Me, through the rebirth of the spirit.

Every Christian is obliged, if he wants to live according to My teachings, to respect the Ten Commandments. But now they contain so much spiritual meaning, which you do not heed, that a heavy responsibility awaits you before Me.

The kings should be your leaders; for they are only "by the grace of God" if they respect God's commandments and, as leaders of the people, ensure that the people respect them as well.

Above all stands faith in a God who is the only "Holy Father" in heaven and on earth, as I said at the Last Supper (John 17:11). For apart from God, no one is holy, neither in heaven nor on earth, not even My bodily mother Mary (see also *Christian Theosophical Prayer Book*, II edition 265:5).

The second commandment says: "You shall not call the name of your God vain. And look, is there any priest, on the other hand, coming forward to point this out to you quite severely and insist that you should not roll Me, Jesus, Mary and Joseph all over and over in a wash of your loose tongue!? Well, that does not even occur to the priests; for they have created their own "holy father" out of a most sinful man and put him on the throne of their priestly pride, so they do not need to worry about another God.

In the third commandment, it is said to you: You shall keep the Sabbath holy. Apart from the fact that the Sabbath, which I instituted from the very beginning, has been dismissed by priests and arbitrarily commanded to be celebrated on a weekday, the true Sabbath for Me is not a day of the week, but the perpetual life of repentance of your soul until you are ready for rebirth.

The fourth commandment states: You shall honor your parents and obey them, so that you may live long and prosper on earth. The commandment still exists, but the parents themselves are far too unspiritual to understand that through this commandment they are responsible to Me for the correct education of their children; but how can the children honour and follow their parents if the parents do not know how to educate them, because the teachers of religion forget their duty to teach the parents on how to educate the children! But what can be expected of priests who teach religion when they themselves act against My commandments, which I gave through the Apostle Paul, when I specifically stated that every bishop and priest must be married and have a model family, so that the whole congregation can look at the family of the bishop and priest as a model of married life. (1 Timothy, chapters 3 and 4; Titus 1:5,6)

The fifth commandment says: Thou shalt not kill. And this applies without exception to any person, neither spiritually nor physically. Priests in particular sin against this commandment because they remain silent about sin and thereby approve of it; but secondarily also kings and princes of the nations, who allow themselves, for their own lust for power, to have My children, in whom I Myself live as the human spirit, put to death by the courts, and to commit mass murder against them, their own brothers, through wars, in order to satisfy their pride and lust for power. Now I will soon control this wild beast in their hearts, and if they allow themselves to stretch out their sinful hands after My books and children, they will soon experience something that will put an end to their nature and being; for they should know that a new era has dawned in which it is no longer permissible to trifle with Me.

Had the people respected My commandment, then the kings would not have been able to use it to murder their fellow brothers, and I would have given the people leaders after My own heart; for it is one thing to kill the enemy who willfully invades the country to subjugate it, and quite another when this is done merely

out of the arrogance of rulers, in order to shine through murder and robbery in foreign lands. Such people, whom you call war heroes, I call robbers and murderers.

The sixth commandment is: You shall not commit unchastity. This is a great commandment, for because of unchastity, the whole human race fell from the heavenly to the hellish states in the spirit of Adam and Eve. In it you recognize the full greatness of this sin, which has become the mother and original sin of mankind. Therefore, suppress the temptations to it and keep yourselves pure; for it is a very dangerous sin if you do not fight it with all your might.

The seventh commandment is: thou shalt not steal. This commandment is only explained incompletely by the priests; but I see in it something quite different, and therefore I want to explain to you what the priests are hiding, because they themselves are thieves of your property.

They urge you to sacrifice to God, the Church, and the Pope, and cheat you out of your money as if they had stolen from you, for I, as Spirit, need nothing material from you; I never commanded the building of churches, nor did I ever appoint or approve of popes, for they do not serve Me, but Mammon and Satan.

Likewise, rulers sin against Me through the seventh and ninth commandments through unauthorized tax collection. For it is said: Thou shalt not steal, and thou shalt not covet thy neighbor's goods. The state does not steal, but it covets by force, and those who do not give or cannot give, are violently robbed of what they find through the judicial and tax authorities. Today's state is in My sight therefore nothing other than a gang of murderers and robbers, without love or compassion towards the poor, in whom I Myself live!

The tenth commandment is: Thou shalt not covet thy neighbor's wife. This commandment encompasses marital duties and must be taken seriously, for fornicators and adulterers have no place in heaven unless they have satisfied justice through strict penance.

We have now taken a brief look at the Ten Commandments so that you know what the priests are concealing from you. But that is not all. I will explain the Ten Commandments in more detail, and it will be an avalanche on your anti-Christian world order!

People should obey My commandments, and I will save them from the hands of murderers and robbers. But it is their own fault that I let them suffer; for if they do not care about Me and do not want to respect My commandments, why should I anticipate their needs and offer them honey for their evil deeds? Earn paradise first, then it will be granted to you!

You say (namely the atheists): There is no God, and if there is one, He is most unjust to let the poor people suffer so much. But I ask: Are the poor people so much better than the rich and educated that I would have a reason to free them from the hands of their oppressors and exploiters? I say no! Either people run fanatically to church and do not allow a reasonable word that I do not need ministers of ceremonies; or they are lukewarm and lazy and care only about their own advancement; or they are atheists.

Which of these three should I help, since none of them serve Me, but only the false teachings of the church and their own selves?

To this, the Bible-Christians will say: these are Roman and worldly Christians, but we live according to the words of the New Testament, so this sermon does not apply to us. Patience, My dear Bible Christians! I am a righteous judge and I do not punish anyone who does not know the law; but you know the law, yet you twist it to suit your own purposes; therefore, you are no better than the Roman Christians. Why do you not live according to the teachings of the Bible? Why are there so many lukewarm Laodiceans among you, and why are there so many who deny God?

I admit that many among you strive to fulfill My Word, but the problem with you is that you are stubborn, just as the Romans are fanatical! And so I can help and save neither one nor the other.

As long as you regard the teaching and Biblical interpretation of the priests higher than that of your God in Jesus, so long will I not deliver you from the hands of your deceivers and exploiters. Accept My pure teachings, and as soon as you begin to live in love, humility, and peace with one another, I will not fail to free you from all such elements.

You know from history that I can punish when it becomes too much for Me. And again a time has dawned in which the zeal of the almighty God, Jesus Jehovah Zebaoth, will be felt very sensitively!

Not for nothing do I speak freely here because I know that people have become unbelieving devils, therefore I am the one who challenges the church and the state authority against Me. Take up the gauntlet I throw down to you! We shall see then how high your thrones and crowns are! And how much your guns, cannons, prosecutors and dungeons can do against Me!

You know the story of the Flood, of the gang of Korah, Abiram with Dathan, of Jericho, of the Dead Sea; and of Pompeii, Herculaneum, and Stabiae, which I destroyed with the lava of Vesuvius because of their fornication and debauchery! History tells you a lot about other events that I let come over men as punishment. And so also you, you heads of government, downfall awaits you as soon as you dare to stand up against Me in your arrogance and your anti-Christian state laws. You are free to do and to act against Me, but prepare yourselves, for then your hour has struck.

I will let My instruments appear freely and teach the people without asking your permission. But do not dare to harass My born-again or forbid them to teach, for I will speak freely through them! For then you will be fighting against Me, and We will see who will yield first!

The natural scientists speak of natural law and do not want to acknowledge any natural law-Maker; I, on the other hand, will seek out the signatory of the state laws to hold him accountable for his anti-Christian state laws; therefore I speak openly and freely, so that no one can excuse themselves by saying that they did not know what I wanted.

Take note, you great and powerful of the world, that I am God and King over all kings, and woe to those who oppose Me, for I will know how to depose them before they even look around for their defense.

One wink of My Will, and it is done with your glory and majesty! Therefore bow your ruler's pride in humility before Me and let Me act freely as I see fit; for one establishment after another of Satan's rule over the world will have to give way and disappear before My unbending Will.

The time of reckoning with the Satan of the world has dawned with My return, therefore act according to My teachings with your money and possessions, so that you may buy your way out of hell, in which you are spiritually up to your necks, otherwise I will take it and distribute it without your merits!

It will take a long time until I will allow you to find a place of refuge to hide yourselves from the indignant people when you will pridefully insist on your ruling rights. Do you know that I dwell in every man?! So I also can inflame the hearts of men against you and let them pass over into the brightest indignation where you will be begging far and wide.

Your whole reign is a succession of anti-Christianity turned against Me in My children, and of oppression, exploitation, and heartless state-law robbery and persecution.

Your deceitful policy of concealment culminates in your separation from the state government and in the government being something other than the ruling house. I am not deceived by such a distinction between emperor, king, and government.

I know that you examine state laws, sign them and are therefore also responsible for their enforcement; therefore you tyrannically defend them with military force if imprisonment is not sufficient. I know the heads of the state laws and the military power and I will approach them directly to make them homeless and roofless if they should knowingly forget to strictly forbid their state authorities from taking any action against me.

I will send forth My angels to proclaim the salvation of the world, that now the time for the establishment of the millennial kingdom on earth has dawned, and woe to those who would seek to hinder them; for I will equip them with a power that no one will be able to resist.

I tell you this in advance so that you know that if you want to remain healthy, you should not stand up against God's instruments. For I, your God, will Myself take up the fight against you through them.

I will confront you not with weapons in My hands, but with My willpower, with which I create giant worlds. Try only once to appear with military force against My instruments or drive the people away from listening to the Divine word, and I will disarm your armies and send them home, and then see who will save you from the fury of the people who are outraged against you!

You have no concept of the omnipotence of your God, therefore consider carefully before you lift the smallest finger in motion against Me, for then the people will immediately see and recognize your impotence.

Basically, I would prefer that you disappear from the scene of your hellish rule and your antichristianity as soon as possible, so that the light from on high may spread freely and penetrate everywhere, illuminating the hearts of My children, whom your antichristian church and state laws have raised up to be cooperating devils, so that they may know what spiritual and material hell they are in; for otherwise there is no salvation for humanity, because the heads of state of privileged antichristianity stand in My way.

Bend or break is the choice that awaits you. Either help spread the kingdom of love everywhere by doing what I will tell you through My instruments, or I will have to remove you as soon as you stand in My way.

It is not My task to waste many words on you. Now I have spoken My will, and thus you know what you must do and what awaits you if you turn against Me.

So it is also with the whole state machine, because it is the invention from the bottom of hell and will therefore again be thrown into this abyss. For nothing more vile and heartless could have been invented than the state order, in which some are gods of the world, while others are working slaves, illegally mistreated in their spiritual and material lives.

For where My Spirit reigns, there is spiritual and material freedom; but where innumerable articles [of law] suppress spiritual and bodily freedom, law and justice, as it is in practice everywhere through state laws, there the spirit of Satan rules with his tools, from the head of state, who may call himself emperor, king, duke, prince, count or whatever, down to the lowest civil servant and military private; for where violence and violation reign through injustice of all kinds of articles [of law] and arbitrariness, there is the nest of Satan and his helpers.

Should slavery and injustice against Me - Who dwells in all men - be by God's grace? Am I then a tyrannically unjust dictator against Myself? Oh you brood of snakes and generation of vipers with your serpentine lying spirit, you wretched deceivers, robbers and murderers of My children! You are of God's wrath and not of God's grace!

I will scatter you to all corners of the earth if you move against the truth of My words, so that nothing will remain of you among the people except the joy of being redeemed from the archdevils in human form.

The truth must finally come to daylight: Who you are in My Divine eyes. The crimes are building up mountain-high, which are committed daily against Me in human form on account of your heartlessness in the law. Therefore, the people shall finally know that you are the leaders of the gang of state criminals, thieves, robbers, and murderers in military uniforms and civil service attire.

You will no longer rule and command Me, but humbly serve and fulfill the instructions that I will give you through the mouth of My instruments, so that your boundless arrogance may be humbled and subdued. This is a high grace of My love that I give you this, so that you eradicate the pride-Satan from your heart through this. Lest you come into the lowest, darkest and most agonizing hell; or into the greatest poverty in the world, so that your arrogance and megalomania and your persecution-frenzy, which are within you, may be most sensitively humiliated and driven out by force.

The time of the Last Judgment has come, and woe betide you, you great and powerful of the world, if you will not follow My words; because the time of grace has passed, which you have used for yourselves, instead of for Me - the only King of the world, the only Majesty in the world - and have let the arbitrariness of your arrogance shine everywhere either in finest hypocrisy or as barbarians of wild tyranny.

The spirit of hell, your arrogance, your barbarism, animates the employees in military uniforms and in government service. Is not the common soldier, whom I forbid to kill in the fifth commandment and to steal and rob in the seventh and ninth, trained and drilled in violence and murder!? With what will you defend yourselves since you are the arch-criminals of all crimes against My Commandments, which you have ordered, taught, practiced and excecuted through your military slaves?

By what right do you demand taxes for your gangs of robbers and murderers who are defending themselves against My commandments 7 and 9? Did I choose and anoint you through My instruments, as I once did with the Jewish kings? Does defending your ancestral robber-knight-injustice with armed force mean being called and authorized "by the grace of God"?

You issue laws, you stand above the law as if you were pure of sin, and you commit such a myriad of the greatest crimes through your legislation in the military, in the civil service, in the lawyer's office, in the service of the barbaric college of animals and men, that an eternity, that is, a decillion Earth years, could hardly atone for them, because it is such a huge number that it can only be compared to the number of blades of grass on earth or grains of sand in the sea. How then will you justify yourselves before Me, since all these crimes have been committed against Me Myself, for I said through the evangelist Matthew (25:40): Whatever you do (good or bad) to your neighbor is as if you did it directly to Me personally, since I dwell in every human being as the Spirit of God.

So I have told you openly and clearly the magnitude of your crimes and also your fate that awaits you for them, because where I, the King of Truth, will reign, all thrones, scepters, and crowns will disappear, and kings and princes will be made into human beings, into brothers of all human beings without exception.

The greatest will be in My kingdom the most humble, the servant of all. So become the greatest of the state by placing your crowns and your rule in My hand and remain only the fulfillers of My commands, then through humility and obedience and fulfillment of My will, the gigantic mountain of your crimes will begin to diminish and through love for Me and for neighbor, will also disappear over time.

Freedom, equality and brotherhood is the slogan of My future kingdom on earth. So precisely what you pursued and, as long as I allowed it, barbarically suppressed with your anti-Christian laws, with imprisonment and accompanying punishments, was Me! I demanded freedom, equality and brotherhood from you through My children - and you barbarically maltreated Me through them! Tell Me - what justification do you have, since you have not been called and appointed "by the grace of God"; for I do not know any ancestral rights of rulers, but I Myself am

the Ruler, and he whom I call has only to fulfill My will and not to assume any sovereign rights over his brothers, but only to serve all in love and humility and to guide them as I reveal to him.

I know no princes and kings "by the grace of God," but rather "by the wrath of God" upon mankind, as I said through Samuel to the Jewish people: In addition to all the sins this people has committed against Me, it commits yet another by rejecting Me as King in My judges, as leaders of the people, and by wanting a king as a tyrant over them. (1 Samuel 8:7-18).

So I must reveal to you all the sins of your deceitful robber-knights, that you may realize that you, who thought yourselves to be the first, are the very last in My eyes and should no longer imagine yourselves anything, but humble yourselves and do what I tell you so that My love may also have mercy on you despite your blatant sins and crimes against My children.

Now I turn to you who call yourselves gods in priestly robes, to tell you the truth, because you call yourselves and say that you possess the power and majesty of the immortal God. You further say that the power conferred upon you surpasses human reason and intelligence, let alone that anything equal or similar to it can be found on earth. (Catechism Romanius P. II, chapter VII, qu.2.). The arrogance of this assertion of yours truly exceeds human reason!

Many years have passed since I gave the command to preach My Gospel to all nations of the earth and still this command is not fulfilled.

One may ask: how is it possible that this gospel is from God, since it is not preached and introduced throughout the whole world, as Christ commanded? Despite its excellence, is this gospel not a human creation, since it cannot be introduced everywhere? Behold, such and similar questions of doubt could be asked about My command to proclaim this Gospel to all peoples of the earth.

Now I come to you with an answer that is valid and conclusive, and it is this: I did not concern Myself with introducing My Gospel throughout the world and to all peoples because, after the departure of the apostles, those who spread the Gospel no longer observed this purity of morals, and thus the inner word often failed, since I do not proclaim My holy teaching through a dirty organ, and because the purity of the teaching was mixed with human opinions and weaknesses and thus distorted. A trained Christian theosophist immediately notices the many inaccuracies in the writings of the so-called church fathers, and the further time moved away from the activity of the apostles, the more errors accumulated in the writings of these church fathers. In later centuries, deliberate anti-Christian

teachings began to be fabricated, which were calculated solely for the honor, lust for power, and financial gain of the priests. Therefore, I refrained from introducing this modern paganism, which had developed into a full-fledged anti-Christianity, everywhere and spreading it as a world religion, since otherwise I would only have helped to spread pure anti-Christianity.

One might think: but why did God Himself not use His instruments to clarify the Bible in such a way that it could be understood equally and clearly everywhere?

I say to you: That has indeed happened; but everyone who dared to proclaim the pure truth was persecuted and silenced, because the power of the popes, patriarchs, and bishops was too great, and because they had the power of the state at their disposal and assistance.

Dr. Martin Luther did indeed bring the New Testament to fruition, but only after the interpretation of the Holy Scriptures had already been completely corrupted, as you have seen from the Enlightenment in the *Holy Trinity*. The former sent ones did not succeed in wriggling their way out from the power of the priesthood, and those who were more energetic had to pay for their convictions with imprisonment, torture and painful death. And this would also happen with the announcers of My pure teaching in the present time if I would allow this. But the times are over for priestly anti-Christian economy, and therefore I will introduce My Gospel this time, even if the powerful of the whole world would resist it, because I want it, and what God wants, men cannot prevent from being carried out.

All religions of the churches and sects all over the world will gradually disappear and so will their priests, leaders and teachers, because the ground is no longer suitable for lies, where the light of truth from God will begin to illuminate the ground of the world.

Visible and invisible powers will stand up for this glorious light from the heavenly heights and teach it suggestively and publicly to the peoples of the earth. Pure Christian doctrine will be introduced partly through the good will to accept it and partly out of conviction that it is pure truth and comes from God, and is therefore the love that could be introduced to make the peoples happy and make them brothers and sisters of one mind and heart.

Then the nations will be happy because they will no longer be oppressed by the pressure of taxes, officials, the military, and the law of selfish rulers. Love, humility, patience, peace, freedom, equality and brotherhood will be the banners of the peoples of the earth, which they will strive for and follow.

Schlaraffia, Utopia and Eldorado (Mauro-Spanish: *ili dorado*, i.e. "gilded land" - fabulous gold land) are names that were given by people, but they did not succeed

to understand what they basically contain, because they would first have to have the same in themselves in order to implement it in public. But this will become in the future, because I will create paradisiacal conditions on earth.

But as long as greedy, honor-hungry and domineering priests will teach you and educate you into stupidity, the dark earth cannot become a bright field of the sun. Therefore I say to you: forsake the priests and their false teachings and ceremonies, and let yourselves be taught in religion only by My Father's words, so that one flock and one shepherd may become a reality.

You are not to despise and persecute your former priests; because this is against My teaching and My holy will, for in this, no brotherly and neighborly love is expressed, but only the dark vengeance and wickedness of Satan, therefore let them go their own way and no longer go to their church services; There should be no dichotomy of opinions among you, otherwise there will be no end of discord and wrong interpretation of My teaching and then also no flock as I desire it to be.

Also never argue about your opinions - which ones are correct - because only the reborn understand this in complete purity; hence turn to them, that they can give you the truth; because only the reborn have a pure light, a clear insight into the secrets of My love, which guides people and leads them to Me.

The sooner all of you will have a faith that becomes active through love towards Me and towards the neighbor; and having subordinated all of yourselves to My instructions concerning material affairs, the sooner I will send My blessing over those congregations where this takes place. It will have to happen, therefore rather befriend the fulfillment of My will so that you become happy sooner.

It is not up to Me but up to you whether you want to become spiritually and materially happy; for I cannot give you grace and transport you to paradise sooner than I promised in the prayer book (*Christian Theosophical Prayer Book*) until you become worthy for it, which is achieved through your own effort and work on your virtues - to imitate Mine.

As for your priests, it is their own fault that people have turned so far away from God. If they had watched over the morals of the people as faithful servants of God, godlessness and lukewarmness would never have had a place in the faith, because they would have properly illuminated and rebuked them.

But there was a long period of centuries in which the people were devout and pious, while the priests were a spawn of bad morals and depravity. The people saw the bad examples of the priests and then became bad themselves. At last the time of light and knowledge dawned, all historical news was brought to light and the truth of faith was reflected in the examples of the priests: If they lived and

still live like this and have no faith, why should we believe them and run after them? Finally the freedom came when the deeds of the priests could directly be exposed to the public and this had the effect of a plague on the people. The people died *en masse* from this plague and became dead in spirit, the graves opened and showed the abominations of desolation, i.e. the people fell into many sins and became an abomination to mankind because of their ungodly deeds, which were testified by new crimes.

So the faith became depraved through the bad examples of the priests, who did not realize that they could only educate the people in good by good examples of their own lives, but only sought to amass a great deal of money so that they would be provided for when things went wrong. The people saw all this and lost more and more respect for them every day, because their deeds showed just the opposite of what they taught the people.

Well, what good will all the money and possessions they have fraudulently obtained, do them: "Sacrifice to God and the Church and we will pray for you and help you go to heaven!" The money was sacrificed for My sake by the stupid people, not thinking that I need no money or anything material, and never listen to paid-for prayers, especially in such a deceitful way—that will I take what was sacrificed to Me and distribute it to the poor if they will not do it themselves. I tell you in advance what I intend to do, so that you yourselves may do it, whereby, if you do it out of love for Me and your neighbor, according to your mercy, you may wipe out some of the many sins you have committed.

Just as the carpenter earns his honest living with his plane, or the blacksmith with his tongs, so My holy name, Jesus Christ, before which all spirits in infinity bow in deep reverence, was for you the instrument of your sinful tongue, with which you swindled money from the people and fraudulently made it disappear into your bottomless bags.

Indulgences, pilgrimages, sacrifices to God, etc. were recommended; for church needs and for all imaginable things, the people had to give money - because you deceived them by fraudulent statements that they were pleasing to God and therefore useful to him, and so they were cheated of their money and salvation.

You have transferred all your devotion to external ceremonies and thus blinded and dumbed down the people, even though I have often said that all external ceremonies and sacrifices are an abomination to Me.

You drove the people into the churches you built with threats of eternal punishment, while I never said that anyone should build a house of prayer for me; for I dwell in no temple other than the hearts of men.

I did indeed tell king David that not he, but his son, should build Me a house (temple), but what words I used, all priests keep quiet. Therefore, I will tell you exactly what I promised king David through the prophet Samuel (Samuel 7:12-16). The words are: "When therefore your time of life is ended, and you rest with your fathers (dead in the flesh), I will raise up your seed after you, which shall come from your body, to him I will establish his kingdom".

Whoever thinks clearly about this prophecy will immediately find that no seed is awakened from a dead and rotten body after death according to material concepts! - The next verses (13) speak just as clearly: "He shall build a house for My name, and I will confirm the throne of his kingdom forever." - (14): "I will be his Father, and he shall be My son." - (16): "But thy house shall be established for ever before thee, and thy throne shall stand for ever."

If Solomon had been awakened in his mother's womb after David's death, when he was already sleeping in the tomb with his fathers, Solomon would not be a son of David, but a Son of God like Jesus, who was just mentioned under this promise; therefore I as the Father said: He will be My Son and I (not David) His Father. At the same time I said twice that I would confirm His (and not David's material) throne forever. David's and Solomon's material worldly thrones have decayed and disappeared, therefore My promise would be a lie if I had meant David's worldly throne by it, while the spiritual throne of David, whose representative from the seed of David was and is Jesus, will exist spiritually eternally.

Here is the understanding of what I meant by this: Your Son (Jesus) shall build Me a house. Jesus, as the spiritual representative of the spiritual throne of David, was called to build a spiritual throne of God in the heart of all men, a dwelling of love for God and neighbor through His teaching, and this house of love, in the heart of men, He has built through the teaching of love that He presented and taught.

So let my prophecy be clear: I never commanded the building of a house of prayer, a temple, or a church of wood and stone, even though Solomon, misunderstanding my prophecy, built me a temple; and because the people understood the spiritual words only in a material sense, I allowed myself to be represented visibly by a great flame of fire.

The "church" is the bride of Christ and "ceremony" is the worship service, so the priests teach—and thus lead the people from the truth to lies and thereby to hell.

It is the task of human beings to correctly understand these explanations of Mine and not to seek to invalidate them with objections based on their reason, as often happens, which is why there are so many different views and differences of opinion.

Reject what I did not establish and teach Myself, for it has no salvation, but rather harbors disaster for your spiritual existence. Do not try to figure out for yourselves what you do not understand, but take refuge in a born-again, and believe what he says, and it will be right before Me. Incidentally, all doubtful matters will be published little by little, so read My explanations diligently and live according to them, for they are the guide to eternal life, your rebirth, or your heaven.

You may indeed use the empty walls of your churches (without altars, pictorial decorations and carvings representing material-spiritual things) for meetings when the time becomes ripe, but only in the same way as My apostles did in the temple in Jerusalem: As gatherings for the love feasts and for discussion of spiritual matters, whereby everyone is free to ask publicly for this or that enlightenment which he has not yet read or found anywhere. It may be recited, read and explained. The love feast may be taken as a memorial meal of My Last Supper. You may sing spiritual songs and also accompany them with music, for music is also played in My heaven, and one may pray for this and that. Yes, you may discuss and deliberate on everything that occurs concerning spiritual life, as in a public meeting; but never should you engage in politics and such matters, which disturb the harmony of the brothers and sisters, and where the unspiritual and unloving things would be the subject of discussion.

In the work "Christian Theosophy," I have given you the highest spiritual rules for refinement. Strive to organize your entire life and actions in a highly spiritual manner so that you may soon attain the rebirth of the spirit; otherwise, you will not be born again for a very long time.

Whoever wants to proceed to the rebirth of the spirit should memorize the teachings of *The Christian Theosophy* and *The Prayer Book* carefully, so that he will not stumble too often. But he should remember well that not only I, but also the spirit of Satana speaks through the inner word and that you therefore have to be very, very careful in all your thinking, desires, speaking, acting, spiritual questioning and answering. I allow many wrong or lying answers through Satana to the questioner to test him whether he is steadfast, whether he becomes angry and argues with Me as to why I have lied to him; I let everyone incessantly be tested in his weaknesses, until he suppresses them and becomes spiritual. Do not be afraid of falling several times! Ask for forgiveness and continue to work diligently on yourselves. You must be hardened against all unpleasant things: Neither lies of Satana in My name, nor insults from your neighbors, nor loss of money, nor any other inconveniences should upset you out of your rest and calmness! It flashes and thunders incessantly in you and around you, and you are never secure from being deceived or taken by surprise, so I advise you once again: Read the said two books often and pay serious attention to these teachings, so that you always have them in mind and diligently practice fulfilling them in

deed. You are to pay special attention to virtue and chastity and to your supposed righteousness and to your anger because this is the field of Satana, and you are often lied to and deceived when you turn to Me through the inner word, that you may completely fall into ruin, because I have given you decisive teachings in this direction to which you have to adhere. This is why I seldom answer such questions; Satana is all the more eager to transmit to you all conceivable wisdom and cleverness in this matter and to lead you into wrong and ruinous paths of sin.

So remember: your material Satan of the flesh and of vices and passions; the spiritual Satan (the spirit of Satana itself), then I; also spirits and men are the testers who approach you and work on you from all sides. Satana incites men and speaks against you through mediums, so do not be surprised when you suddenly experience severe unkindness from there where you least expect it, for her aim is to provoke you into retaliation or harsh responses in order to cause discord. I say to you, do not reply at all, for it is nothing other than that Satana had used your brother or sister to provoke you to anger and to justify yourself by harsh words. But you who feel obliged to give your neighbor a good roasting and to expose him before others, know that you are then the instruments of Satana - therefore tear yourselves out of its poisonous claws and act in such a way as is explained to you on many pages in *Christian Theosophy*, so that a life of the children of God may form and develop on earth, because with unkindness, you are always in the claws of Satana. Do not be thoughtlessly deceived; because Satana is most dangerous when she appears in the light form of an angel, yes, she herself can appear in the form of the Saviour. So be careful and turn to a proven medium, as a born-again, with the question of whether everything is right as it was presented to you. - Also pay attention to your thought language (autosuggestion), for also this often deceives you, and you think that I have lied to you; yes even dictations arise through it, when you adhere too much to your thoughts. Therefore be very careful in your dictations that they do not contain false teachings and unkindness that are not compatible with love, humility, and patience, because such are not from Me.

Finally I come to all men with My love and advise you: Leave your intellectual wisdom of the world and come to Me in the school of love, humility and tolerance. Read My dictated books and live and act according to the teachings you will find in them.

Support with your wealth and abundance according to your knowledge the spreading of My teaching! I could do this Myself because the infinite Creatoromnipotence is at My disposal; but what is left for you to do out of love for Me and for your neighbor if I Myself would want to accomplish this?

Therefore, use the opportunity to be active in works of love for God and neighbor as long as this is possible for you, so that you may prove that you have lived and acted according to My teaching. Therefore do not let the poor and needy suffer

hunger and need; for they are your spiritual brothers and sisters in whom I Myself dwell as the "Most Holy" and who receive the benefits of your love and mercy!

Remember! Your God in Christ is everywhere, but His throne and altar of sacrifice is in the truly poor and needy. - Therefore do not let Me be in want of your love and mercy as long as you still have time to do something good and thereby purchase the kingdom of love for yourselves.

For you do not know the time or the hour when I will come and distribute the earth and everything on it equally among all people. Then there will be no more time, and you will be without works of charity with which to earn heaven.

There are millions of poor people who are hungry and needy, and no one can claim ignorance of where they are, because poor people are everywhere. Stretch out your charitable hand and help to alleviate the suffering of the poor, hungry, sick and needy!

Give them not only material support, but also spiritual support, namely the books which I dictate: e.g. the *Prayer Book*, the *Sermons, Christian Theosophy* and whatever else you feel like doing. On no account give them worldly books; because then you have acted against My will and therefore sinned.

For even the poor, who do not have the money to acquire the necessary books from which they read and experience the teaching dictated by Me, are called to take part at the Father's Table, because they are also called to show up at the banquet of the Lamb Jesus.

My Fatherly desire is that no one should be absent from My heavenly table which is set for all My children. I am a loving Father and care for all My children, but not directly, rather indirectly: the poor are to be supported by the rich with work and otherwise, as always, financially and materially as long as the world-conditions are still as they were now created.

But what you give, give it out of love for Me, then it is given according to the rule as I teach you; because whoever gives something and does not give it out of compassion, mercy towards the neighbor and out of love for Me, who am your neighbor in every man, as I dwell in him, has given nothing, because reluctant or rude giving is no giving at all in the sense of merits for the kingdom of heaven.

So you act according to My teaching and earn merits for the spiritual life. Because the life in the flesh is given to you as examination school in the world in which you are to suppress all your vices, desires, lusts and passions and to weed them out of you to once be made happy through the favors and gifts of being born-again.

So the love of My Fatherly heart is active towards you all so that you all come to Me, your Father in Jesus and become most happy. Strive therefore to do My will, so that you may be transformed from sinners, who await hell after death, into angels, in order to enter paradise and finally come to Me in heaven. For there is your true home, where your Father's house is, and where He reigns.

With open arms and with love I await you at the door of My Father's House, for I Myself am the rich Father and you represent the prodigal son "Satan" as it is told in the Gospel, because, as explained to you in the *Prayer Book* and in *Christian Theosophy*, you are taken - body and soul - from the soul of Satana (Satan or Lucifer) which is solidified in matter. Hence the many evils within you, which you should crucify and eradicate from yourselves.

Yes, verily, I say unto you: According to soul and body you are still Satan; but according to spirit you are God, hence the contradiction in you between good and evil, hence the difficulty to subordinate and follow the Spirit of God within you and to transform your satanic characteristics into the virtues of Jesus. All the more you should take care to redeem the soul of Satan from matter, as it is now your property, since you yourselves are Satan, as long as you do not act and walk according to the will of My Spirit within you.

You are true children of God only through the rebirth of the spirit, therefore take care of this, because you then enjoy a heavenly life already on earth.

This is the voice of your God and Father that speaks to you and teaches you what you should do or not do, so that through a pure Christian faith and by living and acting accordingly, there may be one shepherd and one flock in Jesus, your God, Creator, Father, King and Judge.

Amen!